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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Good morning,

          3  ladies and gentlemen. Hopefully everyone has made it

          4  in through the gauntlet that is at the moment City

          5  Hall, hopefully  some day it will change.

          6                 This is a joint hearing on the

          7  General Welfare Committee and Women's Issues

          8  Committee. I am Councilman Stephen DiBrienza, I

          9  chair the General Welfare Committee and I am joined

         10  by Council Member Ronnie Eldridge, the Chair of the

         11  Women's Issues Committee. Mike Abel, a member of the

         12  Committee is here. Others are expected to attend as

         13  the hearing proceeds. It is an unusually busy time

         14  at the Council and so people are moving from meeting

         15  to meeting. The other day we had a hearing, two

         16  going on at the exact same time and unfortunately a

         17  lot of that has been happening.

         18                 On Wednesday actually, the 20th, we

         19  held a hearing on the response of the New York City

         20  Police Department to domestic violence. We have

         21  heard from advocates and clients, we heard from the

         22  Police Department, the Brooklyn and Queens DA's

         23  offices, a number of issues were raised, questions I

         24  think more than anything were raised by the hearing-

         25  how the police respond, what the protocols are, what
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          2  is happening at a precinct level, what is happening

          3  beyond that, why the policy of dual arrests, what

          4  happens, you know, issues surrounding all of that

          5  police activity.

          6                 Also questions about how difficult it

          7  still is to use the hot line services, how difficult

          8  it is to access beds because of the limited number

          9  of beds, and while beds are not the only answer, the

         10  notion that at any time 20, 30 people are looking

         11  for at any given day about eight or nine beds that

         12  are available is a problem. Unique questions raised

         13  for various populations involved in domestic

         14  violence issues, an interesting and rather lengthy

         15  hearing.

         16                 Today's hearing will examine how the

         17  policies of the City's Administration for Children's

         18  Services affect victims of domestic violence.

         19                 It is clear that whatever the

         20  protocol is or should be, the police are involved,

         21  there are activities that take place very often,

         22  there are children involved in the family setting,

         23  and it also appears to be the case that very often

         24  those children are removed by ACS, and there are

         25  questions that arise from that activity. We have
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          2  designed the hearing a little bit differently today,

          3  more like the General Welfare Committee hearing, we

          4  will hear from a series of witnesses, to be followed

          5  by, at the end of that cycle, the Agency of

          6  Administration for Children's Services.

          7                 I tend to think that it is a clearer

          8  view of what is happening out there from the point

          9  of view of advocates, providers, clients and

         10  consumers of any service or issues and then hearing

         11  from the agency makes for a better presentation of

         12  the questions and ideas surrounding the topic.

         13                 So, having said that, let me also say

         14  that Councilwoman Eldridge as Co-chair, is an

         15  example of that problem scheduling. There is a

         16  potential meeting awaiting start downstairs that I

         17  thought she may have to go to but it appears as

         18  though she decided to miss it because of the

         19  importance of this topic.

         20                 Councilwoman Eldridge.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: No, I am

         22  just looking forward to hearing the testimony today,

         23  because we have heard many anecdotal examples of the

         24  trials of removing children from homes and then

         25  trying to get them back.
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          2                 I wanted to add to you, yesterday we

          3  had a Committee meeting of the Committee on -- it's

          4  a new Committee, Fire, Safety, Corrections and

          5  Probation on the Mayor's Management Report and we

          6  had an extensive dialogue with the Commissioner of

          7  Probation because that is the office that is making

          8  the recommendations to the judges and the courts on

          9  the disposition of cases brought before them,

         10  especially for people who are either charged or

         11  sentenced to less than a year in prison, in jail, so

         12  that they would go into the City system and not into

         13  the state system, and they get a sizable number of

         14  batterers from the domestic violence assault

         15  arrests, and I believe that we should now arrange

         16  for a hearing on that agency. The Commissioner has

         17  promised to give us some more detailed information,

         18  but they are the people who also manage the program

         19  of putting the bracelets on the batterers with the

         20  911 number.

         21                 So we have asked for the number of

         22  cases that they recommended jail time and the number

         23  of cases that were actually given jail time, to also

         24  try to examine the connection between the

         25  recommendations of the Probation Department and the
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          2  action of the judges, and that way I think we might

          3  be able to better judge the training that has been

          4  going on by the Office of Judicial, the Court

          5  Administration, and also, they now intend to

          6  organize a special probation unit in each of the

          7  courts to work with the District Attorney's special

          8  unit. So it is another avenue that I think we should

          9  proceed and follow up very carefully.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         12  Councilwoman.

         13                 I guess everyone knows, in terms of

         14  brief history, the overall topic in various social

         15  services issues covered by the General Welfare

         16  Committee and it included formally domestic violence

         17  issues until Council Member Eldridge was offered the

         18  chance to chair a committee specifically focused on

         19  a number of women's issues and we made, since we

         20  worked sort of well together, we made a decision

         21  that some of the day care related issues, domestic

         22  violence, and an array of issues be primarily

         23  handled by Council Member's Committee and with the

         24  General Welfare Committee still maintaining an

         25  overall interest in it.
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          2                 So, that is how we come to be here

          3  today, and since there is no police involved we

          4  don't have the third Committee from Wednesday, the

          5  Public Safety Committee.

          6                 Although virtually all of the same

          7  staff worked on both hearings, and they have to be

          8  commended for all of their energy and dedication.

          9                 The panel, or a couple of witnesses

         10  who will begin this hearing a follows, Anne Conners,

         11  the Executive Director for the Coalition for

         12  Battered Women and Associates, and Susan Lob, the

         13  Co-chair -- oh, I am sorry, my mistake.

         14                 The Public Advocate Mark Green has

         15  asked to have testimony presented by his office and

         16  by the plan organization that really grows out of

         17  his office, and the Bronx Borough President,

         18  Fernando Ferrer, has asked that testimony be given

         19  by one of his assistants involved in this issue,

         20  Melanie Hertzog.

         21                 So, if the two of them can come up,

         22  the Public Advocate's Office and the Borough

         23  President's Office, and join us. We will hear some

         24  general comments from the both of them and then we

         25  will start with the specific set of witnesses that
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          2  we have invited today.

          3                 If you would identify yourself for

          4  the record, this being a joint hearing, I tend to

          5  follow the general rules of the Council as opposed

          6  to the General Welfare Committee, so you don't have

          7  to be addressed by Counsel first. It is a fancy way

          8  of saying you don't have to be sworn in. If it was

          9  the General Welfare Committee we would swear you in.

         10                 Tell us who you are and please give

         11  your testimony.

         12                 MR. ORENSTEIN: Good morning. My name

         13  is Hank Orenstein, and I direct the C-PLAN: Child

         14  Planning and Advocacy Now Project in the Office of

         15  the New York City Public Advocate Mark Green.

         16                 I would like to thank Councilperson

         17  Stephen DiBrienza and Ronnie Eldridge and Committee

         18  members for the opportunity to testify before you

         19  today.

         20                 As we all know, domestic violence is

         21  a problem that cuts across all sectors of society.

         22  There has been growing awareness that domestic

         23  violence victims need special support services,

         24  shelter, counseling and advocacy, in order to break

         25  the cycle of violence and make positive changes in
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          2  their lives.

          3                 We have also gained understanding

          4  that it takes a lot of courage for women to leave

          5  their abusive partners and it is often not easy to

          6  ask for help.  This past June the Public Advocate's

          7  Office initiated a business labor advocacy coalition

          8  to address domestic violence and its impact on the

          9  work place. Safe At Work's goal, which includes a

         10  web site, is to educate and reach as many employers

         11  as possible so they can provide a safe work

         12  environment for victims of domestic violence, and

         13  access resources and information that can make a

         14  difference in the lives of their employees.

         15                 The success of all efforts to help

         16  victims of domestic violence is based on the premise

         17  and the hope that given the opportunity women will

         18  ask for help in stopping the violence in their

         19  lives.

         20                 Unfortunately this key factor in

         21  securing help for battered women is not being

         22  strongly supported by the Administration for

         23  Children's Services, which has been removing

         24  children from their mothers, charging them with

         25  failing to protect their children.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            12

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 C-PLAN has heard stories, and I know

          3  you will be hearing directly from women today, who

          4  have courageously taken steps to make themselves and

          5  their children safe, only to have their children

          6  taken from them.

          7                 I support the protection of children,

          8  and in some cases it is necessary to remove them

          9  from harm's way. But given what we have learned

         10  about domestic violence and the struggles of women,

         11  it absolutely makes no sense to punish them for

         12  acknowledging they are experiencing what is

         13  tragically all too common a problem. The systems

         14  that should work, proactively and compassionately,

         15  for victims in a time of crisis, including law

         16  enforcement, child protective services and the

         17  courts very often secondarily abuse victims by

         18  casting blame and taking punitive actions against

         19  them because of their status as domestic violence

         20  victims. As a result both women and their mothers

         21  are further traumatized.

         22                 A more compassionate and common sense

         23  approach should be for the City to integrate and

         24  coordinate services for victims of domestic violence

         25  in a way that helps women and children achieve
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          2  safety and support.

          3                 This has been done, for example, in

          4  the State of Massachusetts since 1974, where the

          5  State Department of Social Services has a

          6  specialized domestic violence unit which integrates

          7  protection of abused and neglected children with

          8  services for their battered mothers.

          9                 This approach is strongly recommended

         10  by the National Council of Family and Juvenile Court

         11  Judges and is supported by officials of the U.S.

         12  Department of Health and Human Services in

         13  Washington, D.C.

         14                 Here in New York City, the Child

         15  Welfare Committee of the New York City Interagency

         16  Task Force on Domestic Violence and the Coalition of

         17  Battered Women's Advocates, have developed sound,

         18  workable recommendations that C-PLAN and the Public

         19  Advocate support, and you will be hearing more about

         20  these shortly.

         21                 These include:

         22                 - Greatly enhanced training of ACS

         23  staff so that child protective workers are

         24  sensitized to domestic violence issues, and can make

         25  appropriate safety assessments and link victims and
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          2  their children to appropriate neighborhood and

          3  Citywide services.

          4                 - The establishment of domestic

          5  violence specialists in all ACS field offices.

          6                 - The establishment of a high level

          7  position within ACS's administration to coordinate

          8  ongoing training of staff, the improvement of case

          9  work and the integration of services to victims of

         10  domestic violence and to child welfare practices.

         11                 In addition, I encourage ACS to

         12  resume its dialogue with the Interagency Task Force

         13  on Domestic Violence as a step towards accomplishing

         14  these and other goals.

         15                 We have a wealth of knowledge and

         16  expertise in our city that should be used to

         17  strengthen and inform City policy. Because the lives

         18  of women and children are at stake, there is not a

         19  moment to lose.

         20                 The fact that the Administration for

         21  Children's Services has a pilot project in Manhattan

         22  to improve the way victims of domestic violence are

         23  treated, gives us hope that there are efforts

         24  underway to address some systemic problems discussed

         25  today.
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          2                 These efforts must be improved upon

          3  and expanded. There must also be additional

          4  resources allocated to create more shelter beds,

          5  supervise visitation programs and counseling

          6  programs for victims, their children and batterers.

          7                 In order to stop the cycle of

          8  violence, we must reaffirm our commitment to the

          9  safety of women and children, and as a City do all

         10  that is necessary to assist all family members and

         11  hold the batterers accountable for their actions.

         12                 We look forward to working with the

         13  City Council, the advocacy community and ACS to

         14  ensure that we have an effective system in New York

         15  City that accepts its responsibility for protecting

         16  and assisting victims of domestic violence and their

         17  children.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 MS. HERTZOG: Good morning, Council

         20  Members DiBrienza and Eldridge, elected officials,

         21  child welfare and domestic violence advocates and

         22  community residents.

         23                 I am Melanie Hertzog, here to present

         24  testimony on behalf of Fernando Ferrer, President of

         25  the Borough of the Bronx.  I come before you today
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          2  to discuss the lack of support services for domestic

          3  violence victims, particularly temporary housing.

          4                 The impact of the Administration for

          5  Children's Services policy on victims of domestic

          6  violence, and the fact that the City is not being

          7  held accountable for demonstrating effective

          8  outcomes towards domestic violence programs.

          9                 While the primary goal of ACS is to

         10  ensure the safety of the child, approaches that

         11  ignore and fail to provide support services for the

         12  battered mother are ineffective.

         13                 There is no public information that

         14  points to the fact that ACS is providing services to

         15  both battered women and children to prevent the

         16  removal and subsequent placement of children in

         17  foster care. Indicators are needed in the Mayor's

         18  Management Report that clearly show that there is a

         19  coordinated response to battered women with children

         20  and that preventive services are provided in an

         21  efficient and effective manner.

         22                 The Borough President is deeply

         23  concerned about the lack of temporary housing

         24  available to domestic violence victims. In a

         25  12-month time period, in 1997 and 1998, Victim
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          2  Services received a daily average of 38.2 victims

          3  requesting shelter; however, during the same time

          4  period only 10.6 spaces were available on a daily

          5  basis.

          6                 On a daily basis, nearly 72.3 percent

          7  of domestic violence victims seeking to leave their

          8  batterer were not able to obtain shelter.

          9                 The urgency of the need for available

         10  shelter is clearer when one considers that nearly 75

         11  percent of domestic violence homicides occur in

         12  situations where there has been no prior contact

         13  with the victims by the police.

         14                 Shelters for victims of domestic

         15  violence can also mean a difference between life and

         16  death.

         17                 The Mayor's Management Report

         18  indicates that the City has expanded the shelter bed

         19  capacity to 1,298 slots. However, the report does

         20  not indicate the number of victims placed in

         21  domestic violence shelters or the number of victims

         22  that are awaiting placement in shelters.

         23                 How can we be sure the City is able

         24  to meet the need for domestic violence shelter space

         25  if this information is not available?
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          2                 On numerous occasions, Borough

          3  President Ferrer has requested this information from

          4  the Mayor. Unfortunately these statistics still have

          5  not been made available to his office or the public.

          6                 Victims of domestic violence face

          7  further victimization by the City when they cannot

          8  find temporary housing, so that they can leave their

          9  abusive relationships.

         10                 Furthermore, victims and their

         11  children awaiting shelter placement at the emergency

         12  assistance unit in the Bronx are put at even greater

         13  risk because the EAU is not a confidential location,

         14  allowing a batterer to easily enter the EAU

         15  potentially leading to further abuse.

         16                 It is for these reasons that the City

         17  must be held accountable for ensuring there is

         18  sufficient number of slots available to victims

         19  fleeing their homes and make this information public

         20  knowledge.

         21                 Finding shelter is not the only

         22  problem that many battered women face. A victim's

         23  ability to financially support herself is placed in

         24  jeopardy when violence persists. Between 15 to 50

         25  percent of abused women report interference from
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          2  their partner with education, training or work.

          3                 The most recent welfare studies

          4  indicate that victims of domestic violence are

          5  over-represented in the welfare population. Domestic

          6  violence victims who participate in welfare to work

          7  programs are often unaware that the federal Welfare

          8  Reform Act of 1996 provides assistance to victims

          9  through the family violence option.

         10                 This assistance includes obtaining

         11  the necessary support services victims need to leave

         12  their abusive relationships and protection from

         13  further abuse from their batterers.

         14                 The FVO provision allows victims of

         15  domestic violence to waive strict work requirements,

         16  including time limits, residency requirements and

         17  child support requirements if meeting these

         18  requirements might exacerbate the domestic

         19  situation.

         20                 Unfortunately, many victims are not

         21  notified of their rights as battered women under the

         22  federal Welfare Reform Act, which only further

         23  serves to diminish their chances of leaving the

         24  abusive relationship and gaining self-sufficiency.

         25                 Educating and informing victims of
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          2  their rights, and increasing awareness of their

          3  services is critically important.

          4                 As a survey conducted through the

          5  Bronx Health Link last year showed 51 percent of

          6  domestic violence victims did not know where to go

          7  for help. Through the Bronx Health Link, we are

          8  increasing the awareness of victim services in the

          9  borough, but there needs to be a greater effort

         10  citywide.

         11                 Finally, Borough President Ferrer is

         12  deeply concerned about the number of abuse and

         13  neglect proceedings being brought against battered

         14  women whose children are removed from them where the

         15  only allegation is their children's exposure to

         16  domestic violence.

         17                 Charging battered mothers with

         18  "failure to protect" accuses them of "exposing"

         19  their children to violence, when in fact it is the

         20  batterer that has placed the children at risk of

         21  abuse.

         22                 Borough President Ferrer strongly

         23  urges ACS to work closely with domestic violence

         24  providers in order to prevent the unnecessary

         25  removal of children from their battered mothers and
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          2  make the needed support services accessible.

          3                 The problems that I have presented to

          4  you today clearly indicate the need for a

          5  coordinated response to domestic violence among

          6  those city agencies that provide services to

          7  victims. The agencies, including ACS, HRA, and

          8  Victim Services, need to provide the public with

          9  indicators that demonstrate a coordinated response

         10  to domestic violence victims and ensure that victims

         11  receive the necessary support services.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         14  both. If you can stay one minute. Please send our

         15  regards to both the principals, Public Advocate Mark

         16  Green and the Borough President Ferrer. Members of

         17  this Committee, individually and collective, have

         18  worked with either and both of them on a number of

         19  these issues, both Citywide and up in the borough of

         20  the Bronx, and we appreciate their key concern.

         21                 I would point out one thing, and if

         22  there are questions for you guys we will take them,

         23  otherwise we will move.

         24                 It doesn't surprise me and I don't

         25  think it would surprise anyone in this audience that
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          2  that portion of the testimony speaks to the fact

          3  that many victims are not notified of their rights

          4  as battered women under the federal welfare reform

          5  act, given that the Commissioner of HRA, you know,

          6  makes it his business to testify, upstate the most

          7  recent one, as well as the entire demeanor,

          8  indicating similar belief, that many people may

          9  falsely claim to be victims of domestic violence to

         10  somehow obtain an edge in welfare benefits. I mean,

         11  this is the Commissioner of the Human Resources

         12  Administration, so that is virtually a quote. It is

         13  not an exact quote, but we can read that into the

         14  record if anyone ever wanted it, that is the mindset

         15  and so it is of no surprise and so I do thank you

         16  for pointing it out.

         17                 And secondly, you both hit on, and I

         18  think that is why Council Member Eldridge and I are

         19  doing this together, this real critical question,

         20  among all of the critical questions, this notion

         21  that battered mothers are charged with failure to

         22  protect and that kids are being pulled, you know,

         23  increasingly, and that is one of the things we want

         24  to shed some light on today.

         25                 So, thank you very much.
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          2                 Are there any questions for the

          3  representatives of the two -- Council Member

          4  Eldridge.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I don't know

          6  who is going to answer, but it is my understanding

          7  that if there is a police response to domestic

          8  violence call and an incident report is filed, that

          9  it is automatic, and the police state the child was

         10  present at the time of the alleged battering, that

         11  it is automatically then also reported to the child

         12  abuse hot line, right?

         13                 MR. ORENSTEIN: Right.

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So that is

         15  the state?

         16                 MR. ORENSTEIN: That is the procedure

         17  that I understand is being followed.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And then the

         19  state contacts ACS, the police also are part of the

         20  instant response team, how does it work then? Do you

         21  know -- I don't know who to ask these questions

         22  from, so I may be asking several people --

         23                 MR. ORENSTEIN: In terms of who calls

         24  the State Central Register?

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes.
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          2                 MR. ORENSTEIN: Whether it is the

          3  police or ACS? I am not sure.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: When they

          5  are notified of the fact that a child was present

          6  during a domestic violence incident, reported

          7  domestic violence incident, they then, I would

          8  assume the hot line then goes to ACS, to an ACS

          9  worker; is that what happens? Do you know?

         10                 If you don't know, I will try to find

         11  out.

         12                 MR. ORENSTEIN: Well, a report has to

         13  be generated to the State Central Register if their

         14  objective is to charge the woman with failure to

         15  protect.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, I

         17  don't know what the objective is, but obviously if

         18  the police are automatically reporting, when they

         19  file a domestic violence incident report and they

         20  state that there is a child's presence at the time

         21  of the domestic violence, they automatically, my

         22  understanding from the testimony the other day, they

         23  automatically report that to the state child abuse

         24  hot line.

         25                 MR. ORENSTEIN: Right.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            25

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Then what

          3  does that trigger?

          4                 MR. ORENSTEIN: It triggers a response

          5  from the field office in the Borough, of ACS, in the

          6  borough that the incident took place.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: All right.

          8  We will continue that along.

          9                 The other question, when you cited

         10  the statistics about battered women and the number

         11  of requests for shelter beds, my understanding,

         12  after a conversation with several people who work at

         13  the Department of Homeless Services, a couple of

         14  weeks ago, that fully, that over 1,000 domestic

         15  violence victims are now housed in the general

         16  population. Are you including those figures when you

         17  talk about it, or are you talking about special

         18  domestic violence shelters?

         19                 MS. HERTZOG: I am talking about how

         20  many slots are available.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Where? In

         22  the general population shelters? Or in DV shelters?

         23                 MS. HERTZOG: In DV shelters.

         24                 C0-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Okay, thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you

          3  both, again. Best regards to Public Advocate Mark

          4  Green and the Bronx Borough President Fernando

          5  Ferrer.

          6                 Let us bring Anne Connors, the

          7  Executive Director of the Coalition of Battered

          8  Women's Associates and Susan Lob, Co-Chair of the

          9  Failure to Protect Committee, please. To be followed

         10  by, so you can get ready, Carolyn Kubitschek, the

         11  National Coalition of Child Protection Reform, and

         12  Linda Holmes, South Brooklyn Legal Services.

         13                 And we have been joined by Council

         14  Member Tracy Boyland, a member of Women's Issues

         15  Committee, and a Council Member I believe who

         16  participated in some of the work of the General

         17  Welfare Committee, as well.

         18                 Also, if we do get to a fuller panel

         19  and a longer series of questions, just because of

         20  the length of the hearing we will use a time clock

         21  to try to distribute the time a little more evenly.

         22  I don't usually do that but there are some time

         23  constraints today because this is an important topic

         24  and we want to fully cover it.

         25                 Ms. Conners.
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          2                 MS. CONNERS: Good morning. I am Anne

          3  Conners, I am the Executive Director of the

          4  Coalition of Battered Women's Advocates. We are a

          5  New York City-based organization of individuals and

          6  institutions dedicated to ending domestic violence.

          7                 I would like to thank the City

          8  Council Committees for having the hearings this

          9  week.

         10                 Just to recap, for those of you who

         11  may not have been here earlier in the week, on

         12  Wednesday we had a hearing with the General Welfare

         13  Committee, the Women's Issues Committee and the

         14  Public Safety Committee on Police Response to

         15  Domestic Violence. The main issues that were

         16  addressed at that hearing were challenges, shall we

         17  say, the NYPD is having in implementing the state's

         18  mandatory arrest and primary aggressor laws.

         19                 We heard from a lot of advocates who

         20  testified about the problems of dual arrests, that

         21  is both the victim and the batterer being arrested

         22  at the scene or wrongful arrest. The batterer files

         23  a false complaint two days after his wife or

         24  girlfriend has taken out an order of protection and

         25  she is arrested. And that problem is very clearly
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          2  outlined.

          3                 We made recommendations for increased

          4  training for more thoughtful application of

          5  mandatory arrest law and for better communication

          6  within the precincts, as well as a more integrated

          7  response.

          8                 Today we are here to address the

          9  Administration of Children's Services response to

         10  domestic violence and, you know, these may seem to

         11  be wildly related topics but they are not. I told

         12  the story on Wednesday that we had a call at the

         13  Coalition from a woman who lives in Brooklyn, who is

         14  a poor woman and a woman of color. He boyfriend was

         15  strangling her, the police responded and said, she

         16  dialed 911, the police said if we arrest him, and he

         17  was hiding in the bushes at the time, we also have

         18  to arrest you and your 18-month-old daughter is

         19  going to be put, removed from you and put in foster

         20  care. And needless to say, you know, when that word

         21  sort of gets out on the street, which it has, it has

         22  a very chilling affect, battered women are not going

         23  to call for help. They just are not. They are not

         24  going to risk losing their kids, and you know, some

         25  people may say so what, well what happens if they
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          2  don't call? Well, what happens is the situation

          3  escalates and the opportunity for intervention is

          4  lost and a child could end up dead, a woman could

          5  end up dead.

          6                 Increasingly ACS' position seems to

          7  be that if you are the victims of domestic violence,

          8  you are a bad mother, they are equated. Even women

          9  who have left abusive relationships are still being

         10  accused of failure to protect and their children are

         11  being placed in foster care.

         12                 We have an institutional reluctance

         13  within ACS to address this problem. I have always

         14  wanted to come to a public hearing and wave a big

         15  report around, and here is my opportunity. But this

         16  report, Protecting Children of New York, which was

         17  Commissioner Scoppetta's report in 1996, does not

         18  make a mention of domestic violence, which seems a

         19  gross oversight given the number of homeless

         20  families who are forced into homelessness because of

         21  domestic violence.

         22                 And you know, I also have to say that

         23  when you have the Commissioner of HRA making public

         24  statements, based on no evidence, that battered

         25  women will lie in order to get an edge and to be
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          2  processed faster into public housing and refusing to

          3  apologize for that statement, refusing to back down,

          4  and when you have a Mayor of this City who supports

          5  that position publicly, you have a very big

          6  institutional problem in addressing this issue,

          7  because believe me, that attitude does filter down.

          8                 Now, there have been some efforts

          9  made, there is a very good pilot project in zone A

         10  in Manhattan, it is a six-month pilot project. They

         11  have had 87 cases, they have practiced an integrated

         12  approach. With this integrated approach they have

         13  only had four removals of children, now that is

         14  wonderful but the problem is that that is a drop in

         15  the bucket, and the system will take that kind of a

         16  program and say, look what we are doing, that the

         17  vast majority of people are not getting that kind of

         18  response from ACS.

         19                 There is also another program HRA has

         20  started called Alternatives To Shelter, and it is

         21  implemented in three precincts in Queens. Now, a lot

         22  of women don't want to be removed from their homes

         23  and seek shelter, that is a fact, we have the system

         24  backward where we check the women and children out,

         25  and let the batterer stay at home.
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          2                 However, when you have such a gross

          3  disparity and demand for emergency shelter and

          4  availability, it seems to me a misallocation of

          5  resources and it suggests that the real intention is

          6  just to cut caseload, I mean that is what the real

          7  agenda is.

          8                 Finally, I would like to just

          9  formally request that a report be issued from these

         10  two hearings so we can go forward, because the

         11  mandatory arrest law, as you all know, is sunsetting

         12  in 2001 and we need to start thinking what we are

         13  going to do about it, or the legislative corrections

         14  that need to be made. And this excellent report that

         15  was issued in 1993 with Council Member Eldridge and

         16  Ruth Messinger, Behind Closed Doors, The City's

         17  Response to Family Violence, is a report of the Task

         18  Force on Family Violence. I think it is time to

         19  reconvene this task force, this was done before

         20  mandatory arrest and primary aggressor, you know,

         21  things have changed and we can gather information

         22  and statistics and go forward.

         23                 So, I thank you very much for having

         24  us here today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.
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          2                 Next, please.

          3                 MS. LOB: Good morning. My name is

          4  Susan Lob, and I am consultant and trainer working

          5  with the staff of battered women's programs and

          6  child welfare agencies.

          7                 In 1993, I offered a report for HRA

          8  on the need for non-residential services for victims

          9  of domestic violence that led to the funding of 11

         10  programs in the City.

         11                 More recently I developed a

         12  curriculum that was used to train over 1,800 service

         13  providers working with teams on how to identify and

         14  help victims of relationship abuse.

         15                 I am also the Co-Chair of the Child

         16  Welfare Committee of the New York City Interagency

         17  Task Force Against Domestic Violence. The Task Force

         18  has been advocating for improved services for

         19  victims of domestic violence for over 20 years.

         20                 I also want to remind the Council

         21  that you have a long history with that task force

         22  that in fact Council Member Miriam Friedlander was

         23  one of the founders and for many years was one of

         24  the Co-chairs of the Task Force. And I would really

         25  urge the Council to get involved again with the Task
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          2  Force, because one of the real problems with the

          3  Task Force has been that so many of the members are

          4  City-funded agencies and in a very difficult

          5  position in terms of challenging the City on what it

          6  is doing for battered women and to have an

          7  independent voice from the Council would be really

          8  very helpful.

          9                 The Child Welfare Committee was

         10  created in 1988 after Lisa Steinberg was murdered by

         11  her father, who also severely abused his lover,

         12  Hedda Nussbaum. And actually, I think Council Member

         13  Eldridge was involved with the Committee in those

         14  days.

         15                 The Committee is made up of advocates

         16  and service providers of both battered women's

         17  programs and child welfare agencies and has been

         18  looking at the connection between domestic violence

         19  and child abuse.

         20                 For many years we have tried to get

         21  the City's child welfare administration and its many

         22  incarnations, to understand the dynamics of domestic

         23  violence and intervene to keep mothers and their

         24  children safe.

         25                 The Committee is currently addressing
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          2  two issues. One is the acute need for supervised

          3  visitation programs for victims of domestic

          4  violence, and the second is that we are looking at

          5  the impact with charging battered mothers with

          6  failure to protect their children. And you are going

          7  to hear testimony from Catherine Hodes on that

          8  later.

          9                 I just want to give you some

         10  statistics on the connection between domestic

         11  violence and child abuse. In homes where women are

         12  abused by their partners children are abused at a

         13  rate 15 percent higher than the national average.

         14  More than half of domestic violence perpetrators

         15  also abuse children.

         16                 Studies show that women are abused in

         17  approximately 70 percent of homes in which children

         18  are abused. And in New York City, the Child Fatality

         19  Review Panel found that a history of domestic

         20  violence in the family was a risk factor in 40

         21  percent of the deaths of children from 1990 to 1997.

         22                 And yet, efforts to protect children

         23  from abuse and neglect in the City often overlook

         24  this important risk factor.

         25                 In January 1997 the Committee met
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          2  with Commissioner Scoppetta -- it took actually a

          3  year to get that meeting -- to present our concerns

          4  and recommendations in terms of proving ACS'

          5  handling of cases where domestic violence was a

          6  factor.

          7                 In spite of that meeting, when the

          8  agency released its reform plan, which Anne showed

          9  you, that big, fat plan, there was not one single

         10  mention of domestic violence.

         11                 We feel strongly that unless an

         12  understanding of the impact of domestic violence on

         13  mothers and children is infused into all aspects of

         14  the work of ACS, children will continue to be

         15  removed inappropriately and battered women will

         16  remain in danger.

         17                 The Committee developed four pages of

         18  recommendations for ACS in response to the reform

         19  plan, which I will submit in writing. But I would

         20  like to highlight some of the most important

         21  recommendations.

         22                 One we would really like to see is

         23  strengthening of the role of the ACS domestic

         24  violence coordinator, by locating the position in

         25  the Commissioner's Office and ensuring that this
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          2  person has the capacity to meet the demands for

          3  coordinating ACS' domestic violence training

          4  assessment and response.

          5                 Currently there is somebody in that

          6  position who is excellent who really cares about

          7  battered women, but this is not her only job and she

          8  really does not have the authority to make changes

          9  in the agency.

         10                 2) Assigning at least one domestic

         11  violence specialist to each ACS field office in all

         12  five boroughs.

         13                 A pilot project in Northern

         14  Manhattan, as Anne talked about, has proven very

         15  helpful in identifying and appropriately intervening

         16  with battered mothers.

         17                 If there were domestic violence

         18  specialists in the field office, then when the

         19  police do trigger that report of domestic violence

         20  in a home, there would be somebody in the field

         21  office who could figure out what was the appropriate

         22  intervention and whether or not in fact the children

         23  were in danger, or if the emphasis should be on

         24  helping the mother get out of danger with her

         25  children.
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          2                 3) Mandating ongoing training about

          3  domestic violence issues and effective safety

          4  planning for all levels of ACS staff.

          5                 Currently new staff does get training

          6  at the Satterwhite Academy about domestic violence

          7  but it is tacked on at the end of almost four weeks

          8  of training and it is not at all integrated into how

          9  they look at the work. And so what happens is, after

         10  being told all kinds of things that are really not

         11  in the best interests of battered women, they get a

         12  day at the end of that training that says, oh, by

         13  the way, you should pay attention to these factors,

         14  and it is not helpful. And what we are really

         15  pushing for is ongoing training because once people

         16  are in the field, things come alive in a different

         17  way and I think they could really benefit much more

         18  from the training.

         19                 4) Establishing supervised visitation

         20  centers to respond to the particular needs of family

         21  where domestic violence is present, and Council

         22  Member Eldridge mentioned the Department of

         23  Probation, one of the best programs we used to have

         24  in the City was run by the Department of Probation

         25  in the court in Queens, and that funding was cut
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          2  many years ago, and I would love to see something

          3  like that happen again, or for ACS to be funding

          4  supervised visitation programs.

          5                 And finally, we really are urging

          6  establishing a mechanism from ongoing dialogue

          7  between domestic violence advocates and ACS

          8  policy-makers.

          9                 We understand that it is very

         10  difficult for a huge agency like ACS to change,

         11  however, what is most frustrating to those of us who

         12  have been doing this work for years is the refusal

         13  of ACS policy-makers to meet with advocates to

         14  devise a plan to begin to move on this issue.

         15                 We have been asking for such meetings

         16  since our January 1997 meeting with Commissioner

         17  Scoppetta. We met with the staff and members of the

         18  Marisol panel in an effort to get them to support

         19  ongoing meetings between ACS policy-makers and

         20  domestic violence advocates and they do support such

         21  meetings.

         22                 The Urban Justice Center is currently

         23  trying to set up those kinds of meetings and I think

         24  we will hear testimony from somebody from the Urban

         25  Justice Center, but they have not been successful in
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          2  getting a date for these meetings.

          3                 So really what the committee is

          4  hopeful of is that the City Council can put some

          5  pressure in ACS to address domestic violence in a

          6  comprehensive and appropriate manner. This is the

          7  only way to assure the safety of both mothers and

          8  children.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you. If

         11  you can stay for questions, before we go Council

         12  Member Boyland had a question, so we are going to

         13  turn it to her and then to my Co-Chair.

         14                 Council Member Boyland, you have a

         15  question?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair.

         18                 Just a few questions, maybe you can

         19  refresh my memory. I failed to hear anyone making

         20  comments in terms of the family shelters or the safe

         21  houses when a mother of a family finds out that they

         22  can leave the home because of domestic violence; is

         23  there a failure of ACS to recognize that these

         24  mothers are now put into these safe houses and

         25  shelters, shelters that are now going to move them
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          2  into permanent housing or some housing where they

          3  will be safe?

          4                 And two, what is the connection -- we

          5  know that because of the outcome of the results of

          6  domestic violence, that BCW goes into the school

          7  because the child's attendance record, the child has

          8  attention deficit, the child has problems, behavior

          9  problems; could there be some sort of correlation in

         10  terms of how ACS is dealing with the battered mother

         11  or the battered family, and how can we at some point

         12  in time figure out how we can work better and

         13  explaining or making the more knowledgeable of the

         14  situation so we don't have the end result of ACS

         15  eventually coming in and taking the child away from

         16  the mother because of circumstances that she cannot

         17  handle?

         18                 MS. LOB: Well, I will try to answer

         19  that, but I think you are going to hear a lot of

         20  testimony from people maybe in better positions to

         21  talk about that.

         22                 From what I understand, what more

         23  commonly happens is that ACS will force a woman to

         24  enter shelter, whether or not that is appropriate or

         25  not.
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          2                 I think once she is in shelter it is

          3  less likely for the children to be removed.

          4                 We have heard cases of women who the

          5  batterer is in jail and she is being forced to go

          6  into the shelter which makes no sense. Or there is

          7  no room in shelter, and, you know, we heard

          8  testimony about lack of space and they don't care,

          9  it is like a requirement that you have got to be in

         10  shelter or in counseling.

         11                 And I know you are going to hear

         12  testimony about --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I would be

         14  interested to see the results of that.

         15                 MS. LOB: Yes.

         16                 And then your other question about --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: The

         18  intervention with the Board of Education with the

         19  school piece, because eventually those are some of

         20  the criteria that BCW uses to investigate the

         21  mother.

         22                 MS. LOB: Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: The child's

         24  attendance rate, behavior, things of that nature.

         25                 MS. LOB: I know you are going to hear
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          2  testimony from an organization that works with

          3  battered women who are disabled, and I know that a

          4  lot of investigations get triggered around, you

          5  know, school neglect or failure to go to school. And

          6  for battered women it may be more difficult to get

          7  their child to go to school, if they had been beaten

          8  the night before.

          9                 So, I would imagine that it is

         10  higher, but I am sorry, I don't know. Hopefully

         11  somebody else will speak to that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Yes, we have a

         13  number of analysts that can fill in some of these

         14  things.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay. Thank

         16  you very much.

         17                 MS. LOB: You are welcome.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         19  Council Member Boyland.

         20                 Council Member Eldridge has a number

         21  of questions and we appreciate your outlining sort

         22  of the Wednesday to today connection in terms of

         23  hearing and framing the issues for us, particularly

         24  surrounding the role of ACS and the removal of

         25  children from a battered woman and the affect it has
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          2  on that person in terms of the willingness to come

          3  forward or the fear, in other words the fear to come

          4  forward, because they might lose their children and

          5  we really, I mean that is the key, key component, so

          6  it is important that you have outlined it.

          7                 Council Member Eldridge.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Ms. Lob, who

          9  are the members of the Interagency Task Force?

         10                 MS. LOB: All kinds of providers of

         11  services to battered women and in the Committee, the

         12  Child Welfare Committee, many people who are in

         13  preventive programs, staff of preventive programs,

         14  some ACS staff and many battered women's advocates.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But it does

         16  have City staff on it?

         17                 MS. LOB: Yes. Actually, the task

         18  force is co-chaired now by HRA and Victims

         19  Services.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Does that

         21  hamper the group?

         22                 MS. LOB: I think so.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Who

         24  established it that way?

         25                 When I was involved, we were
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          2  involved, I am not sure of the sequence, but the

          3  Lisa Steinberg death triggered a group of advocates

          4  who had long talked together about how to bridge

          5  that tension between children's advocates and

          6  domestic violence advocates. And we formed then a

          7  coalition of domestic violence, I don't remember

          8  what it was called.

          9                 MS. CONNERS: Right.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But we

         11  became, tried to be very active, and to me, the

         12  progress there was great, but the frustration always

         13  came with the relationships of the City agencies.

         14                 So, I wondered if, why is it still in

         15  a City interagency and maybe we should reconstitute

         16  it so it is more independent of the City and not

         17  driven by that agenda.

         18                 MS. CONNERS: Well, I think it is kind

         19  of nice that we are both here today because the

         20  Coalition of Battered Women's Advocates really

         21  started after response to that.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And I am

         23  sorry, I am sorry that most likely was the

         24  beginning.

         25                 MS. CONNERS: Yes.
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I am sorry.

          3  I am so confused about all of the different times

          4  that we have done it.

          5                 But do you find that there is -- is

          6  there a good working relationship between the

          7  Coalition and the Interagency Task Force? Or do you

          8  find that you get a little hampered?

          9                 And especially, I don't want to ask

         10  you this now, but especially in these days, when

         11  people are so afraid to speak up, have the advocates

         12  become more careful about what they are saying

         13  because of their fear for funding?

         14                 MS. CONNERS: Definitely.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So in a way,

         16  the more successful we become, the harder it becomes

         17  for us to move further?

         18                 MS. CONNERS: The climate in this City

         19  for any kind of democratic exchange of ideas is very

         20  low if you receive any funding from the City.

         21                 For example, many domestic violence

         22  service providers and advocates were appalled when

         23  Commissioner Turner made his comment about women

         24  lying about they were battered, which had no

         25  evidence to back it up, but they were all too
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          2  terrified to speak out and say anything about it.

          3  And that goes to even addressing basic issues, like

          4  the shortage of housing beds. I mean, we can blame

          5  that on the federal government if we want to, but

          6  people are still afraid to talk about it because

          7  they are afraid their programs will be eliminated.

          8                 And I think there is a good working

          9  relationship, but it is hampered. I mean, we meet in

         10  HRA's headquarters, you know, you are not going to

         11  have the most open and free exchange of ideas. And I

         12  think if we had some, you know, ravel rousers from

         13  the City Council it might help.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Ravel rousers?

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I just

         16  wanted to ask, because I gather we were confused by

         17  the Police Department's, the testimony of the Police

         18  Department and the DAs from Queens and Brooklyn,

         19  because the Police Department said there was

         20  something like 26,000 assault cases, cases for

         21  assault brought to trial or brought to the court

         22  system.

         23                 The Brooklyn DA's Office testified I

         24  think that they had at least between 14,000 and

         25  16,000, I don't know if you use different
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          2  populations coming in, and Queens said they have

          3  between 5,000 and say 7,000, and that is already the

          4  total that the City, the Police Department gave us,

          5  so that was hard. But when we asked how many of

          6  those cases involved families with children, people

          7  with children, they were unable to give those

          8  figures because the Police Department said they do

          9  not, that is not part of their interest in the case.

         10                 So, if you are trying to attempt to

         11  follow when there is a call to 911, there is then a

         12  police visit to the scene of the violence, there is

         13  then a domestic violence incident report filed, then

         14  if there is a child involved, it is also reported to

         15  the state hot line, then what happens? Who has the

         16  figures of the number of cases that are brought to

         17  court that involve children? Do you know?

         18                 MS. CONNERS: I don't think anybody

         19  does. I really think it would be great if somebody

         20  did start to keep those records.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Now, of the

         22  children, of the cases at ACS, the numbers that are

         23  cited are always astonishing, that 70 percent of

         24  domestic violence, of abuse against women, 70

         25  percent, in 70 percent of the homes in which
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          2  children are abused, whatever it is, in homes where

          3  children are abused, 70 percent of the women are

          4  also abused, right?

          5                 MS. CONNERS: Right.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Or in homes

          7  where women are abused, children are abused at a

          8  rate 1,500 percent higher than the national average.

          9  So, what percentage of the child abuse cases that

         10  ACS has involve domestic violence, I mean reported

         11  -- how do we figure? I mean, if it is so

         12  astonishingly high, why are we having so much

         13  trouble having domestic violence specialists? It

         14  seems to me all of the caseworkers should be

         15  specially trained in domestic violence.

         16                 MS. CONNERS: That is how it seems to

         17  me too.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Okay.

         19                 MS. LOB: If I could just add, HRA is

         20  developing a special domestic violence unit that is

         21  supposed to provide liaisons, and I don't have all

         22  of the details about that, but representatives who

         23  are here later today may.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, I

         25  think that we should insist, especially since the
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          2  police have now put domestic violence patrol

          3  officers in every precinct, they are in the process

          4  of hopefully improving their computer operation and

          5  the record keeping.

          6                 The DAs appear now to have separate

          7  domestic violence units, the court system has

          8  developed a separate domestic violence unit.

          9                 I cannot understand how ACS cannot

         10  have domestic violence experts in each of the field

         11  offices, it is beyond any kind of belief. So, I

         12  would strongly urge that our two committees insist

         13  at the time of the budget that this happen. This is

         14  just totally unacceptable.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         16                 Co-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE:

         17                 So, I am looking forward to asking

         18  ACS.

         19                 Don't rush me.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am not. You

         21  are the chair.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I am the

         23  Co-Chair, right. So you don't even have to put that

         24  on (timer).

         25                 All right, thank you.
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          2                 MS. CONNERS: That would be great.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We have been

          4  joined by Council Members Margarita Lopez and

          5  Guillermo Linares and Council Member Angel

          6  Rodriguez.

          7                 As I anticipated and expected,

          8  various meetings cause people to sometimes come and

          9  go from meeting to meeting.

         10                 I just want to make a brief comment

         11  in light of the last two witnesses, and one in

         12  response or in support of some of the testimony and

         13  I was struck by this notion- unless an understanding

         14  of the impact of domestic violence on mothers and

         15  children is infused into all aspects of the work of

         16  ACS -- those were your words -- children will

         17  continue to be removed inappropriately and battered

         18  women will remain in danger.

         19                 Now, that is in so many ways the crux

         20  of this issue. Not the entire domestic violence

         21  issue, which we deal with, and have struggled with

         22  and Wednesday and today and Ronnie's work and my

         23  work and Shelly's work, and we will continue to work

         24  with all of you, I think for today that is the crux

         25  of it.
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          2                 This is an Administration that

          3  operates in secret, so there is no surprise you

          4  don't get information meetings or cooperation, this

          5  is a commissioner who works for an administration

          6  who operates in secret who himself says, as we have

          7  both now said two or three times, women may fake

          8  claims of domestic violence in order to obtain an

          9  advantage. As if this is such a wonderful status,

         10  and such a wonderful thing, such a prized event to

         11  have occurred in someone's life, and an

         12  Administration for Children's Services that clearly,

         13  not just in this area of domestic violence, but we

         14  have done extensive hearings in foster care in

         15  general, not related to -- not emanating out of

         16  domestic violence, you know, conditions, out into

         17  the boroughs. We were up in Manhattan, we were up in

         18  Harlem, we were here, we were there, and more and

         19  more people telling us immediate and without serious

         20  review the pressure is on from the bosses, you know,

         21  the folks who lead the agency to the front line

         22  workers to pull those children.

         23                 Anyway, I don't know how we end up

         24  infusing all aspects of the work of ACS, the

         25  importance and understanding the impact of domestic
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          2  violence on mothers and children. But I do think

          3  that that solidifies at the beginning of this

          4  hearing the key question in front of us.

          5                 Let us get to witnesses Carolyn

          6  Kubitschek, The National Coalition for Child

          7  Protection Reform, and Linda Holmes, South Brooklyn

          8  Legal Services.

          9                 And they will be followed, just again

         10  in the nature of letting people know, Rachel

         11  Putterman, Kim Aherne, Catherine Hodes, and Debbie

         12  Donastorg.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Let me just

         14  add, while they are moving to sit down, Anne, I

         15  appreciate the recommendation that we do an update

         16  of that report and I think that is a very good idea

         17  and I think we will certainly try to do that, and to

         18  reconvene that group.

         19                 And I also think that as Chairs of

         20  these two committees, that DiBrienza and Eldridge

         21  will request a meeting with Commissioner Scoppetta

         22  and Advocates and we will see what happens there as

         23  a result of our hearings, and our staffs do intend

         24  to issue a report of the hearing, so we will use

         25  that as a basis.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. If you

          3  are ready, Ms. Kubitschek, you can begin.

          4                 When the light is off the mic is on.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: The

          6  backwardness is indicative of the whole operation.

          7                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: Okay. Thank you,

          8  Chairman DiBrienza, Chairwoman Eldridge, and members

          9  of the Council.

         10                 My name is Carolyn Kubitschek. I am

         11  an attorney in Manhattan and President of the

         12  National Coalition for Child Protection Reform.

         13                 The Coalition is a non-profit

         14  organization that seeks to make a child welfare

         15  system better serve America's most vulnerable

         16  children. We have long maintained that the primary

         17  problem with the child protection system nationally

         18  and in New York City is not that it hurts parents,

         19  but of course it does, the primary problem is that

         20  the system hurts children.

         21                 In no area is this more apparent than

         22  in the way that ACS often treats children who

         23  witness domestic violence.

         24                 Put yourselves in the position of a

         25  small child. You love your mother, and you know she
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          2  loves you, one day your father or a boyfriend or an

          3  ex-boyfriend turns violent. Your mother can't run

          4  away fast enough, so you see the man hit her, or

          5  perhaps you hear the fight from another room. What

          6  do children need at that moment? Well, first they

          7  need to know that they will not be the next victim,

          8  but they also need more than ever the love and

          9  reassurance that only their mother can provide. They

         10  desperately need to know that they won't be

         11  abandoned, and if they are very young, they need to

         12  know that domestic violence was not their fault.

         13                 By rushing to remove children from

         14  women whose only crime was to wind up with their

         15  bodies in the paths of men's fists, ACS repeatedly

         16  undercuts all of those needs, and they harm children

         17  as much, if not more, than witnessing the violence

         18  itself.

         19                 Having possibly been traumatized by

         20  witnessing this violence, the child is suddenly cut

         21  off from the parent that the child could turn to for

         22  support. Chances are the child is also cut off from

         23  siblings, not to mention extended family, friends,

         24  classmates, school teachers, and in addition to

         25  feeling lonely and anguished, the young child has to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            55

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  conclude that he is being punished by being taken

          3  from his mother. If he is being punished, then he

          4  must have done something wrong.

          5                 So, any irrational feeling that the

          6  child has that the child was responsible for the

          7  abuse is reinforced by ACS.

          8                 Now, these cases are not aberrations.

          9  A subcommittee of the City's own interagency task

         10  force, the Subcommittee found that increasingly

         11  abuse and neglect proceedings brought against

         12  battered mothers, whose children are removed from

         13  them, where the only allegation is their children's

         14  exposure to domestic violence. And my own experience

         15  as a practitioner of family law has shown the same

         16  thing, the number of cases I personally have been

         17  involved in as an attorney, where women are being

         18  charged with failing to protect their children has

         19  been increased astronomically.

         20                 The problem is, one of the major

         21  problems is that the policy is backfiring. It harms

         22  not only the children who are being removed, but it

         23  also harms children who are in danger, because as we

         24  have heard other witnesses testify, women will not

         25  come forward, women will not report that they are
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          2  being abused because they fear losing their

          3  children. And I was really shocked to hear at the

          4  testimony Wednesday that it is standard police

          5  policy to call the hot line whenever a child is

          6  involved in a domestic violence situation.

          7                 And in answer to your question,

          8  Council Member Eldridge, when the police, or anybody

          9  for that matter, calls the hot line in Albany, the

         10  caseworker takes down the information and

         11  immediately faxes that information to the local

         12  child welfare organization, which here is of course

         13  based in New York City, it goes to the office in the

         14  Borough where the child resides and an immediate

         15  investigation begins with ACS. And by the way, ACS

         16  always opens the case file in the name of the

         17  mother, whether or not she has actually inflicted

         18  the violence on her children, and ACS also will do a

         19  full court press, that is a total investigation of

         20  both parents for possible child abuse in every

         21  single case where a call comes in.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And I just want

         23  to add, it is not when a child is involved, it is

         24  when the child has observed.

         25                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: It is when the child
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          2  is present. Yes, the child is completely untouched.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Right.

          4                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: There are two things

          5  that ACS does very well. One, it takes children away

          6  from their parents very well, and, second, it makes

          7  excuses very well, and I expect you will hear plenty

          8  of excuses today.

          9                 For example, they may say that they

         10  only take children when the mother insists on

         11  continuing to live with the batterer. But that is

         12  not true.

         13                 I would like to talk about one of my

         14  cases briefly. My client's ex-boyfriend, whom she

         15  had broken up with some time before, returned and

         16  broke her arm. While she was in the hospital

         17  receiving medical treatment, she got a call

         18  notifying her that ACS had taken her children

         19  because she had supposedly allowed them to see her

         20  arm being broken.

         21                 In fact, the children hadn't seen the

         22  incident, but even if they had, this is not a case

         23  where the children were in any danger. The assault

         24  on my client was a little different from an assault

         25  perpetrated by a stranger on the street. Should we
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          2  start taking children in those cases?

          3                 In other cases ACS has ordered

          4  battered women to move away, but has done nothing to

          5  help them find shelter.

          6                 But when it comes to the victims of

          7  domestic violence and their children, there is a

          8  more fundamental question, why should they be the

          9  ones who have to move?

         10                 If a husband or boyfriend is beating

         11  up a woman there is a way to get the offender out of

         12  the house, it is called arrest, and there is a place

         13  for the offender to stay, it is called jail.

         14                 And prosecutors can demand as a

         15  condition of bail that the offenders stay away from

         16  the woman and her children.

         17                 So, why does the City, or why does

         18  ACS insist on punishing domestic violence victims

         19  and their children?

         20                 We think that it is a by-product of

         21  the virulent anti-family crusade that has

         22  characterized ACS since its creation in 1996.

         23                 On the very day that he announced the

         24  creation of ACS, Mayor Giuliani said that the City

         25  was doing too much to keep families together and the
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          2  new emphasis would be on taking children away.

          3                 The City's own plan of action

          4  declares that from the moment a caseworker shows up

          5  at the door the family is presumed guilty and the

          6  parents somehow must prove that they are not using

          7  or neglecting their children.

          8                 When it comes to removing children,

          9  the City's policy is practically take the children

         10  and run. By law ACS is not supposed to remove a

         11  child without a judge's permission, except in a true

         12  genuine emergency when there is imminent risk of

         13  severe harm and no time to tell it to the judge.

         14                 Another of my cases, the City

         15  admitted under oath that it almost never asks a

         16  judge first. When a worker wants to take away a

         17  child she declares that it's an emergency and picks

         18  up the child.

         19                 The United States Court of Appeals

         20  for the 2d Circuit has just declared that this

         21  practice is unconstitutional and I hope that

         22  Commissioner Scoppetta will tell his caseworkers

         23  that they should obey the law.

         24                 But given this kind of climate, the

         25  upper echelons at ACS, is it any wonder that the
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          2  front line workers are terrified to do anything but

          3  take the children?

          4                 Workers know that nothing will happen

          5  to them if they take away too many children because

          6  they can lose their jobs if they leave a child in a

          7  home and something goes wrong.

          8                 Workers often claim that they are

          9  damned if they do and damned if they don't, but when

         10  it comes to taking away children, the workers are

         11  only damned if they don't and they know it.

         12                 Not long after Scoppetta took office,

         13  a caseworker told the Daily News specifically in a

         14  case involving domestic violence, he said I was with

         15  the child this week who I never would have removed

         16  before, but what can you do? If you don't remove

         17  them and something happens later, you are dead.

         18                 So, as I mentioned earlier, ACS is

         19  great at excuses. The excuse used most often is that

         20  they are taking no chances or putting child

         21  protection ahead of family preservation, but that is

         22  the flimsiest excuse of all.

         23                 ACS has justified this policy on the

         24  grounds that removal of the children is necessary to

         25  reduce the deaths of children previously known to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            61

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  the agency. And it is the plan of action that has

          3  been mentioned, ACS invites the City Council and the

          4  public at large to judge them based on whether they

          5  have reduced the number of deaths of children known

          6  to the system.

          7                 Well, the judgment is in. Under the

          8  Scoppetta Administration, deaths of children have

          9  increased 50 percent, from 24 in 1996, to 36 in

         10  1998, removing children does not work.

         11                 What does work? Well, experience in

         12  other states has shown that family preservation

         13  programs work. Michigan has made real family

         14  preservation programs available to almost any

         15  family. The foster care population has declined and

         16  safety of children has increased.

         17                 Alabama is rebuilding its entire

         18  system around family preservation principles and

         19  they have found exactly the same results, the number

         20  of children in foster care has dropped, and the

         21  number of deaths of children has also dropped.

         22                 Now, in New York City, there is not

         23  family preservation. Funds have been cut. We know

         24  that what gets paid for is what gets done, and the

         25  City is paying for foster care. The City pays
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          2  private agencies every day that they keep a child in

          3  care, and when the child goes home the payments

          4  stop. The incentive is obvious.

          5                 The City is now promising to do more

          6  than simply rate the agencies on the success in

          7  achieving permanence. We are waiting to see that and

          8  I hope you will ask the representatives of ACS when

          9  they testify what ACS is doing to enforce its

         10  proposal that children will be allowed services to

         11  remain in their home and that there will be some

         12  teeth to the program.

         13                 Michigan, Alabama and now even

         14  Illinois are showing that there is a better way to

         15  help vulnerable children, including those who have

         16  already been harmed by witnessing domestic violence.

         17  Are Rudy Giuliani and Nicholas Scoppetta willing to

         18  listen? Thank you.

         19                 MS. HOLMES: Hi. Good morning. My name

         20  is Linda Holmes and I am a staff attorney in the

         21  Family Law Unit at Brooklyn Legal Services

         22  Corporation B. The Family Law Unit represents

         23  hundreds of parents each year in child welfare

         24  cases. I am a NAPIL Equal Justice Fellow working

         25  particularly with women whose children who have been
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          2  removed or threatened with removal by ACS due to

          3  allegations that they fail to protect them from

          4  exposure to domestic violence.

          5                 My office helped to co-author the

          6  Failure To Protect Report that is going to be

          7  provided to Council Members today by

          8  Catherine Hodes.

          9                 I have been asked to be brief, so I

         10  am actually going to submit my testimony, and there

         11  are just a couple of points that I wanted to

         12  highlight quickly.

         13                 One is that as Carolyn said, I think

         14  that she is absolutely accurate in saying that the

         15  problems that domestic violence survivors face in

         16  the Child Welfare System, are really problems that

         17  are faced by all parents in the child welfare

         18  system. There ha been a real focus under ACS on

         19  removal of children and not a sufficient focus on

         20  early reunification and provision of services.

         21                 Secondly, I think that there is a

         22  real problem with assessment of domestic violence.

         23  Assessment of the safety of children in domestic

         24  violence situations, and I just wanted to mention,

         25  one of my clients who I worked with, Alexandria, and
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          2  I go through her story in my testimony. She had her

          3  children removed after she had gone to the police,

          4  cooperated with the prosecutor in prosecuting, had

          5  filed for divorce against her husband and was

          6  cooperating with preventive services.

          7                 Nevertheless, ACS removed her

          8  children and filed a petition against her. So, there

          9  was really nothing more that she could have done in

         10  that situation to show that she was separating from

         11  her husband and was trying to keep herself and her

         12  children safe. And in fact, she also went after, she

         13  also had her children returned after a 1028 hearing.

         14  She was ordered to go to therapy and the therapist

         15  said that if she didn't immediately go to a domestic

         16  violence shelter, that the therapist was going to

         17  report her to ACS. Although the husband had left the

         18  house, she had an order of protection, she had filed

         19  for divorce, and she is already actually known to

         20  the system, but the therapist said it was her duty

         21  to report her to ACS because she hadn't left the

         22  house and the batterer knew where she lived. So, she

         23  was creating a situation of danger for the children

         24  in the therapist's opinion.

         25                 The other issue is, the initial
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          2  assessment doesn't assess what services could help

          3  to provide safety, so too often children are removed

          4  without any assessment of whether you could help to

          5  provide safety by assisting women to get an order of

          6  protection to protect them and their children or

          7  assisting them with shelter services.

          8                 One of the other major issues I think

          9  is that in this assessment there is not a sufficient

         10  focus on accountability. The focus too often is on

         11  the woman, rather than on the batterer. And one of

         12  the cases from my office that I also detail I think

         13  is really kind of a shocking case in that regard,

         14  the client, Maggie, had gone to court to get an

         15  order of protection because her batterer had tried

         16  to hit her, because she had tried to protect her

         17  son, which was the batterer's stepson. So she went

         18  to court to get an order of protection and ACS had

         19  already been involved, and the judge asked the ACS

         20  caseworker why a petition hadn't been filed, and ACS

         21  caseworker responded, well she has left the home,

         22  she is doing what she can to protect the children,

         23  and the judge said, no, against the batterer. Why

         24  didn't you file a petition against the batterer? And

         25  the ACS caseworker really had no response, and
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          2  subsequently a petition was filed against the

          3  batterer because the judge ordered it, but that

          4  should be the case in every situation.

          5  Unfortunately, ACS really puts the responsibility

          6  for domestic violence on the victim rather than on

          7  the perpetrator of domestic violence.

          8                 And then lastly, I think that there

          9  really has to be more of an effort made to provide

         10  early reunification services.

         11                 Sometimes it is necessary to remove

         12  children, but in many of the cases that I represent,

         13  early reunification services would be appropriate.

         14  The batterer is in jail, he has been removed from

         15  the home, there is an order of protection in effect,

         16  and it would be appropriate to return the children

         17  to the home. There are services which are not

         18  provided to help to assist in early reunification.

         19  And I just wanted to each some of the other comments

         20  that were made.

         21                 I believe that the Zone A project in

         22  Manhattan North has been very successful, and that

         23  is a program which should be continued an expanded.

         24  The work of the Urban Justice Center has been very

         25  successful in working with preventive programs, that
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          2  should also be continued. And that it is very

          3  important for ACS to be working with domestic

          4  violence advocates, and they have been talking about

          5  having strategic planning meetings with domestic

          6  violence advocates and they have not been scheduled,

          7  they are supposed to happen this fall and there has

          8  been no date set. And I think that this shows, it

          9  demonstrates that ACS has not really so far been

         10  committed to this issue and devoted the resources

         11  that are necessary to keep women and children safe.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         14  both. We have a few questions, and the members, as

         15  well, may have a few questions.

         16                 I just want to sort of make one or

         17  two points with each of you.

         18                 The testimony combined, your both

         19  testimonies and comments combined, clearly go to

         20  what I think is the heart of today's hearing. And it

         21  doesn't seem that there could be any question that

         22  the so-called, you know, "child protection" focus of

         23  the agency, instead of this effort, making any

         24  effort to keep families together is a failure, it

         25  doesn't protect children at all.
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          2                 I mean, is there anything in the

          3  evidence, in the cases, you know, in your exposure

          4  to this issue that would lead you to believe

          5  otherwise?

          6                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: Well, it is

          7  interesting that you ask that, Council Member

          8  DiBrienza, and I hope you will ask ACS, because --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I will.

         10                 MS. KUBITSCHEK:-- When I was

         11  preparing my remarks I pulled out a form, an ACS

         12  form called the "Domestic Violence Protocol", and I

         13  said, gee, I vaguely remember this from the old

         14  day's and I notice that the form, the year on the

         15  form was 1990, and the domestic violence protocol is

         16  a set of steps that the caseworker is supposed to go

         17  through to determine whether or not the children can

         18  safely remain with the mother. And I said, this is

         19  amazing. Of all of the case records that I have read

         20  through in my practice as an attorney in the past

         21  five years, I have never seen one of these forms

         22  actually filled out. So, I don't know what happened

         23  to it, and I really would like to know what ACS is

         24  doing. Do they use the protocol? Do they have the

         25  protocol anymore? If they do, why aren't they using
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          2  it? Why am I not seeing it?

          3                 The steps that they go through look

          4  pretty reasonable on paper, or the steps that they

          5  are supposed to go through, but I have never seen

          6  somebody actually following them.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We certainly

          8  will ask them. Thank you for that comment.

          9                 The second thing is, in the part of

         10  your testimony that talked about the workers, and I

         11  thought it was important and eminently fair of you

         12  to mention this, that if they don't take children at

         13  the drop of a hat, they will be in trouble with the

         14  leadership of ACS, and I think that is an important

         15  point to make on behalf, if you will, of the front

         16  line workers.

         17                 I think it is clear that your word

         18  that they are terrified to do anything but is not an

         19  exaggeration but, quite frankly, the norm, and

         20  anything else either of you could shed --

         21                 MS. HOLMES: That is definitely true.

         22  I had a client, whose case is also in here, Marisol,

         23  who there was a petition filed against the batterer,

         24  it took another two weeks to file a petition against

         25  her and I talked to the caseworker, he said openly
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          2  he didn't want to file a petition against her, the

          3  supervisor told him that he had to file a petition

          4  against her, he didn't see any reason to. As far as

          5  he could see she was a very good mother, and that

          6  there had been this one very severe incident which

          7  had landed her in the hospital after a multiple

          8  stabbing by her batterer. But as soon as she got out

          9  of the hospital it was his opinion that she should

         10  have the child back, but he was forced to file a

         11  petition against her regardless.

         12                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: That has been my

         13  experience also. In fact, in one of my cases the

         14  caseworker came out after being called because the

         15  man was battering his wife and the man at that point

         16  was very remorseful. He said I will move out, don't

         17  take my children, don't punish them, I am leaving.

         18  He packed his bag and the caseworker said okay,

         19  seems okay to me, and she left and filled out her

         20  paperwork. Two days later she came back in tears and

         21  said to the mother, the higher ups tell me I have to

         22  take your five children away. And she did. And filed

         23  a case in court and fortunately the mother got a

         24  good lawyer, but the kids were out of the home for

         25  weeks.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, one last

          3  one and then I think it is back to your testimony.

          4  You know, inviting the public, the Council,

          5  advocates to in a sense judge the agency based on

          6  whether they have reduced the number of deaths of

          7  children known to the system, and combine that offer

          8  with the fact that those deaths have increased, is

          9  the most telling and dramatic, in the most dramatic

         10  way telling of the failure of their approach and the

         11  pressure they put on those workers.

         12                 I just wanted to make note of that.

         13                 Finally, I would just say to you

         14  both, and to the other witnesses as well, as I turn

         15  it over to my co-chair, what bothers me the most

         16  about all -- I don't know if it's the most, but

         17  certainly it may well be the most, is I don't

         18  believe for a minute that any of this takes place

         19  for any reason, other than the fact that they are

         20  afraid they might get a negative headline. That is

         21  to say, if they didn't follow through on their

         22  belief that you pull at the drop of a hat, and if a

         23  child was left, if that child was injured, it isn't

         24  even about that child, it is about the fact that the

         25  administration might get a negative headline, so I
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          2  don't know how we deal with that in changing or

          3  infusing a different attitude, because I don't even

          4  think it is about a real believe that they are

          5  actually helping the kids, it is just avoiding the

          6  possibility of a negative headline. How do you deal

          7  with that?

          8                 So, I appreciate your testimony. Let

          9  me turn it to my co-chair, before the 20 seconds

         10  goes and the bell goes off. I turn it to Council

         11  Member Eldridge.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         13                 To go back to what the police

         14  testified about if a child watched some violence in

         15  the home --

         16                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: Or didn't even watch

         17  --

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Or just was

         19  there.

         20                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: Was in the home

         21  somewhere.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes. I think

         23  they said an observer, but I am not sure. But when

         24  is the distinction drawn that a police officer

         25  removes the child immediately, or when does it get
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          2  reported up to the hot line? Is it when there is a

          3  definite evidence of abuse of the child directly

          4  that the police officer removes the child?

          5                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: Well, the police

          6  officer must always report to the hot line whether

          7  or not --

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I see.

          9                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: If the police officer

         10  believes that there is child abuse going on, if the

         11  police officer has a reasonable that the child is in

         12  danger, the police officer must report back to the

         13  hot line.

         14                 I take issue with the notion that

         15  every child who is in the home when a woman is

         16  beaten up is in danger. In many of those cases the

         17  problem is solved once the batterer is arrested and

         18  is out of the home.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But there

         20  are occasions that police officers do, not domestic

         21  violence cases, there are occasions where police

         22  officers do remove children right away, aren't

         23  there?

         24                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: That is correct.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: They don't
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          2  do that in DV cases, but we don't know.

          3                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: The patrol guide of

          4  the police department says that if a police find a

          5  child who is alone, that the police are not supposed

          6  to ignore that, and so of course if the police are

          7  arresting the parent for any reason and the arrest

          8  of the parent would leave the children alone, the

          9  police are not supposed to just walk away and leave

         10  the children in the apartment. But they are supposed

         11  to take the children and make sure the children are

         12  safe, which I think usually means bring them to the

         13  precinct and then wait for a relative to come and

         14  pick them up or allow the parent to make a phone

         15  call and have the relatives pick them up.

         16                 Now, in some cases that I have

         17  personally been involved in, the police will have

         18  decided that they will not allow the relative to

         19  pick up children, and in fact they call the local

         20  closest ACS office and say we have some children

         21  here, come and get them, and I don't know what

         22  motivates the police to take certain actions in some

         23  cases and other actions in other cases.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         25                 Do either of you have any idea of the
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          2  number of foster care placement that are as a result

          3  of domestic violence?

          4                 MS. HOLMES: No. In fact, I believe

          5  that as part of the adoption of Safe Families Act,

          6  New York State implementing legislation, OCFS is

          7  supposed to be studying the issue of what the actual

          8  numbers are. But I believe, I mean we have asked ACS

          9  and I believe they don't keep records. You can ask

         10  them when they come, but my understanding is they

         11  don't keep any records of now many cases are related

         12  to domestic violence.

         13                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: ACS considers

         14  domestic violence in the category of inadequate

         15  guardianship, that is what they charge the mothers

         16  with. The fathers may be charged with actual abuse,

         17  if they hit the child. But if the father hits the

         18  mother, the charge would be inadequate guardian

         19  ship, which is kind of a catch-all category and the

         20  statistics that they do keep show that about 52

         21  percent of all of the cases, I think more than 50

         22  percent fall into this sort of catch-all category of

         23  inadequate guardianship.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Then your

         25  experience. I mean, one of the reasons we have the
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          2  advocates and people who work from the other side

          3  first, so we can hear stories and then ask the

          4  agencies, that is why I am asking you this, the

          5  number of children who have been removed, do you

          6  have any idea of the average length of stay in

          7  foster care?

          8                 I mean, what does it range from, what

          9  are some of your experiences?

         10                 MS. HOLMES: Well, I can talk about my

         11  clients alone, which is a small sample, and I don't

         12  know what the figures are for the larger groups.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes.

         14                 MS. HOLMES: My client Marisol, her

         15  child spent eight months in foster care.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how many

         17  placements in that eight months?

         18                 MS. HOLMES: A single placement.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Single.

         20                 MS. HOLMES: It is actually

         21  interesting, because the Marisol's case the sole

         22  issue is assisting her with a housing a subsidy and

         23  it took --

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I was going

         25  to ask you that, because then once the child is in
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          2  foster care, you are then faced with different

          3  requirements, aren't you, for getting the child out

          4  of foster care, as far as having a room and

          5  different things?

          6                 MS. HOLMES: That's right.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Tell us what

          8  that is.

          9                 MS. HOLMES: Well, my client, for a

         10  variety of reasons, partly because she had been

         11  stabbed in the apartment and didn't want to live

         12  there anymore, partly because she had been

         13  threatened by her batterer's friends if she went

         14  back to that neighborhood, partly because she wasn't

         15  eligible to the same public assistance grant as she

         16  had been when she had her child with her, she needed

         17  to move from the apartment she was in. So, she was

         18  living with her mother and she was trying to find

         19  some apartment which would be suitable for her child

         20  to come back, and ACS is supposed to assist parents

         21  with the housing subsidy of $300 a month, and it

         22  took four months to process that application for a

         23  housing subsidy. And that was the sole issue really

         24  for the return of her daughter.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And the
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          2  other cases, shorter time than eight months?

          3                 MS. HOLMES: Yes. I would say a

          4  shorter time than eight months.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And Carolyn?

          6                 MA. KUBITSCHEK: I think that in cases

          7  where the woman is able to find a good lawyer to go

          8  with her to Family Court the first time, that really

          9  makes all of the difference so a lawyer can advocate

         10  strongly and can really stop the process right there

         11  and say to the judge, Judge, what is going on? And

         12  then the judge will cite ACS, what is going on? Why

         13  did you take these children from this woman?

         14                 Frequently, by the way, ACS does not

         15  even list, does not file any charges at all against

         16  the batterer, only against mother, and then the

         17  batterer is walking around free.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, once a

         19  child is placed in foster care, are there special

         20  foster care placements because the child has

         21  supposedly been endangered by a domestic violent

         22  incident? Is there any attention paid to the

         23  emotional or psychological need for the child, over

         24  and above?

         25                 MS. HOLMES: There might be additional
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          2  therapy, some therapeutic services or counseling

          3  services, but that would be the same for any child

          4  in foster care. There is no specialized domestic

          5  violence services.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: This is just

          7  a final question, but in the few times that I have

          8  been into the Family Court on any of these cases of

          9  interest, it is appalling to me, and the number of

         10  parties that have to be together for a case to be

         11  heard and the fact that so often somebody is

         12  missing, or as you said, if the woman is lucky

         13  enough to have a good lawyer; what does that usually

         14  imply? If the woman is poor, what happens?

         15                 MS. HOLMES: Most parents in Family

         16  Court are represented by 18-B counsel, and

         17  unfortunately the rates are very low for 18-B

         18  counsel and they are higher for in court than out of

         19  court time. So, as a result, people who represent

         20  parents in Family Court tend to spend more time in

         21  court than out of court and don't have the resources

         22  and the time to really spend to help a parent to get

         23  the services they need, they may need, or to develop

         24  the case that they may need.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Does
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          2  Brooklyn Legal Services, are you funded enough that

          3  you can take very case that comes to you?

          4                 MS. HOLMES: No.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, how do

          6  you decide which cases to take? Or what happens with

          7  the other cases? You just can't handle them?

          8                 MS. HOLMES: That's right. I mean, we

          9  don't have the resources to represent all of the

         10  clients who come to us.

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how do

         12  your cases come?

         13                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: My cases. Well, I am

         14  in private practice and people come to me usually

         15  referred by other lawyers or by the Bar Association.

         16  Many people who come seeking legal assistance cannot

         17  afford my fees. My partner and I try to do as much

         18  as we can pro bono but --

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I was going

         20  to ask you, how many pro bono cases do you take?

         21                 I mean, it is not fair, but how many?

         22  There is an unlimited -- if you could just do it

         23  without getting paid, there would be an unlimited

         24  universe, right?

         25                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: If I didn't have to
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          2  be paid, if I didn't have to pay my rent and I

          3  didn't have to sleep, I still could not handle the

          4  large volume of cases.

          5                 But I would encourage you, and even

          6  invite you, Council Member Eldridge, to come back to

          7  Family Court. The Family Court has, in theory,

          8  become an open court, and that was about five years

          9  ago when they changed the rules to make it open to

         10  the public. The Family Court doesn't think it is an

         11  open court, they still think that they are a closed

         12  court --

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Oh, I have

         14  been there recently. Absolutely. Not allowed into

         15  the hearings sometimes, and I have been there when

         16  lawyers have been rejected for clients, and I have

         17  been there when 18-B lawyers have taken cases and

         18  don't know what they are doing, and I have been

         19  there when the foster care placement person doesn't

         20  agree with the ACS person, and I have been there

         21  when the ACS person won't talk to the lawyer of a

         22  client, and I have seen it and it is a terrible

         23  nightmare, and anybody who has to go there without

         24  good legal assistance and also prepared to spend

         25  days because you have to come back and back and back
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          2  and back, and meanwhile children are in strange

          3  environments, not with their parents and when we

          4  talk to the people in juvenile justice, or you talk

          5  to people who are concentrating on juvenile

          6  delinquency or whatever we call youthful violence

          7  these days, usually one of the outstanding

          8  characteristics of children who get into trouble are

          9  that they have been in foster care.

         10                 So, I don't understand how we change

         11  that whole ratio and make it so that we see the

         12  effect of domestic violence and the mother not being

         13  assisted and the terrible affects that foster care

         14  can have on children and being separated from

         15  families. I agree with you. And I will be glad to

         16  come to court with you some day and I think we

         17  should organize trips for our colleagues, it would

         18  be very helpful.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: If you can

         21  stay we have one more question. But I just need to

         22  introduce students from Bryant High School in

         23  Astoria who have joined us. They are here spending

         24  some time in City Hall. They tour, they visit and

         25  they observe meetings. This is the Committee on
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          2  General Welfare, which I chair, and the Committee on

          3  Women's Issues which Council Member Eldridge chairs,

          4  and as you have heard, we have been discussing a

          5  very serious and difficult topic, domestic violence,

          6  what happens to victims, what happens to folks who

          7  batter, what happens to children who are involved at

          8  least by being in the same home or site or serving,

          9  and it is a great deal of concern that this

         10  administration is not fully and fairly dealing with

         11  this issue and that so many children are removed

         12  from their home setting and from the victims that it

         13  may cause more harm than anything else.

         14                 In any event, we welcome you here to

         15  City Hall and we hope you enjoy the rest of your day

         16  here.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 Now, for the final questions to

         19  Council Member Linares, and then we will bring up

         20  the additional witnesses.

         21                 Council Member Linares.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: First of all,

         23  I would like to commend both chairs for their

         24  leadership in organizing both the hearings we had

         25  earlier this week and this particular hearing.
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          2                 I represent a community in Northern

          3  Manhattan that has reached crisis level when it

          4  comes to domestic violence, and the victims which

          5  are often women and the children within the family.

          6  In most cases often because of how things are set up

          7  institutionally, become more of a victim in terms of

          8  how City agencies deal with very difficult

          9  situations, and I have asked the chair of the

         10  Committee to extend this hearing so that we can

         11  bring this type of hearing straight to the Northern

         12  Manhattan Community so that the neighbors, the

         13  families that are affected with these challenges

         14  have the opportunity to testify and give us

         15  firsthand what they are facing with this situation

         16  that is so difficult and challenging for all of us.

         17                 It brings to mind the recent case of

         18  the young lady who was killed the day of her wedding

         19  by her ex-boyfriend who happened to be a

         20  distinguished, or happened to be a business leader

         21  from my area, and the context of outrage of the

         22  community in terms of how she is out of this

         23  situation, sometimes she may be perceived as being

         24  the victim as a guilty one, brings to bear that

         25  perhaps what we are looking at is a situation where
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          2  you are found guilty whenever there is some type of

          3  allegation until proven innocent and that is tragic.

          4                 I have a question for you, but I just

          5  want to highlight that in today's New York Times, as

          6  we speak about how the system is in place to address

          7  and protect our children when they are removed from

          8  homes for whatever circumstances, there are very

          9  serious questions as to how the system is currently

         10  in place and operating, in today's New York Times,

         11  on page 10, on the bottom of the page, and I have to

         12  give credit to the New York Times for at least

         13  putting this information, this article out, but it

         14  is very hard to get to it. It reads three staff

         15  members are accused of selling drugs to group home.

         16  And this is the headline. It is hard to get when you

         17  compare a story like this, which is about protecting

         18  children to the story of the Yankees that are all

         19  over the papers and so forth.

         20                 And it is ironic that here we are, in

         21  a hearing talking about how we can improve

         22  protecting our children and the innocent and the

         23  headline is something that has to do with an agency

         24  that is overseen by the Administration of Children's

         25  Services, where employees are selling drugs in a
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          2  place where children are called to be protected from

          3  harm that they may be exposed to in the environment

          4  where they are removed from.

          5                 So I just wanted to put that into

          6  context here because it is discouraging and as I

          7  speak to you, Council Member Lopez and I have

          8  already called for a special investigation in this

          9  particular case and also call on the City Council to

         10  hold a hearing about this particular issue where

         11  children are not even protected within the agencies

         12  that are called to protect them.

         13                 I wanted to ask, in the cases that

         14  you work with, given that often there are many

         15  families that do not speak English, I was just

         16  wondering to what extent language and cultural

         17  background how recent families may have come here,

         18  what is your experience in handling cases where the

         19  families do not speak the language, do not know how

         20  to navigate this system and where the agency

         21  intervening may not be prepared, whether it is

         22  prepared in terms of such situations, in communities

         23  that are immigrant communities, that have large

         24  families or that have difficult circumstances, I was

         25  just wondering whether you had cases where language
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          2  has been an issue and cultural background and other

          3  challenges may have been in the middle contributing

          4  to the nightmare for many families that often take

          5  place.

          6                 MS. HOLMES: There is a case that is

          7  very striking of that nature. I had a client come to

          8  me who had a domestic violence history with her

          9  ex-husband, she had gotten into an argument with him

         10  and he had her arrested and when she came out, the

         11  charges were dismissed against her but when she came

         12  out of jail her children had been taken. She didn't

         13  speak English, she was a Spanish speaker, and she

         14  was a recent immigrant so she wasn't that familiar

         15  with the court system or city agencies and she had

         16  come to our office, she had absolutely no idea where

         17  her children were, and they had been gone from her

         18  for four days at that time and they were eight

         19  children. And it took a lot of -- it took me two

         20  days basically of phone calls and going with her to

         21  City agencies. I went with her to court to see if a

         22  petition had been filed, there is no petition filed,

         23  I went with her to the ACS office, and at the ACS

         24  office they insisted that she sign a voluntary

         25  placement, although they had no reason to hold

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            88

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  children and they had assigned her initially a

          3  caseworker who didn't speak Spanish, so this

          4  caseworker had been calling her and leaving her

          5  messages, but she didn't speak Spanish and the

          6  client didn't speak English.

          7                 So, I was able to get her children

          8  returned after a few days, but her children spent

          9  seven or eight days away from her for absolutely no

         10  reason. There was no basis for them to hold her

         11  children at all, there was no allegations for

         12  neglect and they, in fact, admitted that they didn't

         13  even know why the children had come into foster

         14  care. Apparently it had been some machination of the

         15  batterer which had made some allegation which there

         16  was no proof and they didn't really know what the

         17  basis of it was.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: When the City

         19  does something like this or the agency, the City

         20  agency does something like this and it is totally in

         21  violation of established procedures, do you know of

         22  any case where families have challenge and have

         23  taken to court the City for violating their rights?

         24                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: Can I interrupt? That

         25  is about half of my practice, suing ACS when they do
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          2  things wrong, and suing foster care agencies when

          3  they do things wrong.

          4                 I am truly hoping that that part of

          5  my practice will go out of business when they learn

          6  to do something right but it seems to be a growth

          7  profession.

          8                 I want to second what Linda has said.

          9  What we have seen and what we have heard about is

         10  children who go into foster care for whatever reason

         11  frequently are moved far away from their homes,

         12  frequently children who do not speak English are

         13  placed in foster homes that speak where only English

         14  is spoken, the children eat food that they are not

         15  accustomed to, and so there is a total disruption in

         16  their lives, they have already lost their parents,

         17  sometimes they have lost their siblings and they

         18  have lost their culture.

         19                 Now, it was I believe in 1980 that

         20  the Board of Estimate back when it existed passed a

         21  resolution that children should be placed in foster

         22  care in their own boroughs.

         23                 I believe also that 90 percent of the

         24  foster children now are not in their own boroughs,

         25  that 20 years later we still haven't been able to do
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          2  that.

          3                 ACS used to say, well, we don't have

          4  Spanish-speaking foster homes, but now they do. When

          5  the foster care population exploded there was a huge

          6  rush to find more foster homes, in particular to

          7  find Spanish-speaking foster homes, and there are

          8  plenty of Spanish-speaking foster homes, not that

          9  they are always used for Spanish-speaking children.

         10                 I have a client right now whose

         11  two-year-old was just returned to her after about

         12  eight months in foster care, and of course he is

         13  two, he is just learning to speak, he learned to

         14  speak only Spanish, and she is not Spanish-speaking

         15  and she said how can I communicate with my child.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         19  Council Member.

         20                 I understand Council Member Lopez has

         21  one before we let you go and get the final panel.

         22                 Council Member Lopez.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You said

         24  something that strikes me. You said that the most

         25  part of your practice is based on suing ACD. The
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          2  result of those suits, do those suits create changes

          3  in the way that the agency operates?

          4                 MS. KUBUTSCHEK: Yes. One of the

          5  lawsuits that I spoke about in my testimony has

          6  created a major change. The federal court said that

          7  ACS cannot remove children unless they have a court

          8  order or unless it is a true emergency, and this was

          9  always the law, they just haven't been following it,

         10  but if ACS violates this law they can be held

         11  accountable, and up until now ACS would not be held

         12  accountable and maybe some judge would say, oh, you

         13  know, you maybe should have gotten a court order

         14  first, but okay we will forgive you this time. Now

         15  they are going to have to answer to a court of law

         16  and the children and their parents then get some

         17  financial compensation for the way that their rights

         18  have been violated and the way that their lives have

         19  been entirely disrupted. And as I say, I keep hoping

         20  that if there are enough lawsuits and they have to

         21  pay out enough money and the situation receives

         22  enough publicity, that they may change their

         23  policies, they may change their practices and they

         24  may actually follow the law.

         25                 In 1989 --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The reason I am

          3  asking you this question is because I don't want to

          4  be suing the City. I want to protect the tax dollars

          5  -- the dollars, the tax dollars that people pay in

          6  taxes, I want to save that. That is one of my duties

          7  here as a City Council Member. And I take that very

          8  seriously. I also take very seriously that the

          9  children of my City be taken care of properly and if

         10  we have to sue somebody to fix that, so be it. But I

         11  am looking in other ways in fixing that before we

         12  have to get there, because why we have to get to the

         13  point in which the child is hurt, file a lawsuit in

         14  order to get this resolved.

         15                 My interest in your comment comes

         16  from this reason. I want to know if you have cases

         17  that you brought that you won the lawsuit and then

         18  you bring another one under the same situation

         19  because the issue was not resolved; do you have

         20  cases like that? That in other words the Department

         21  is very well aware that this was an issue that

         22  occurred, they were sued over this, they had to pay

         23  money over this but again they make the same

         24  situation happen and you sue them again under the

         25  same principle.
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          2                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: On the removal of

          3  children I have sued them many, many times over the

          4  past ten or 15 years, and I think it has had a

          5  little bit of an effect, beneficial effect, because

          6  when I started this type of a practice, ACS would

          7  remove children and never go to court at all, they

          8  would simply hold the children for days, weeks,

          9  months and in one case two years, without ever

         10  asking a judge to review what they had done and the

         11  children would languish for all of that time without

         12  any quarters.

         13                 Now they are in fact going to court,

         14  but they go to court -- they remove the children

         15  first and then they ask a judge for permission two

         16  days, two weeks later, and sometimes the system

         17  works as it is supposed to, the judge says no, I

         18  don't give you permission, why did you remove this

         19  child? The child did not need to be out of the home.

         20  Return the child immediately.

         21                 I guess that is also an answer to

         22  Council Member Eldridge's question, how long do

         23  children remain in care after they are removed? It

         24  varies a lot. It varies from days to months.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you have any
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          2  suggestion in terms of legislation that we can

          3  implement to try to change this?

          4                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: That the City can

          5  implement?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes, that we,

          7  the City Council, can make, the City of New York to

          8  implement, no matter what if he don't want to.

          9                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: Well, the City can

         10  change -- I think this is all driven by money, and

         11  the foster care agencies get money when children are

         12  in care. This is an incentive to get more children

         13  into care, and keep them in care longer.

         14                 If you provide the same financial

         15  incentive to keeping children in their home, then

         16  they won't be removed in the first place.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I mean, you are

         18  making a very serious statement now. I mean, you are

         19  saying that, right now you are saying that in big

         20  ways part of the reason why this situation is

         21  happening is because it is an industry here and

         22  there are individuals who are profiting from the

         23  pain and the sorrow of human beings, that is what

         24  you are saying, right?

         25                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: I have been saying
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          2  that for a number of years, and when Harrison Jay

          3  Golden was Comptroller, and when was that, in the

          4  seventies? He said exactly the same thing, and the

          5  situation remains the same. But in states where

          6  children, where agencies are not compensated for

          7  each day that a child is in foster care, we are

          8  seeing better results. Children are not going into

          9  foster care so quickly, and they are staying shorter

         10  times.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That is an

         12  interesting point. Can you be a little more --

         13                 MS. KUBITSCHEK: Sure. The particular

         14  states that my organization has been holding up as

         15  models are Michigan, Alabama, and Illinois. Michigan

         16  made its reforms voluntarily, Alabama was forced by

         17  court order to do it, and Illinois was forced by

         18  mostly embarrassment because they had a foster care

         19  panic, where deaths went up, and as they took more

         20  kids into foster care, more kids died anyhow and

         21  they said we have got to do something different.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you. And

         24  Council Member, I thank you both for this very

         25  critical component of the testimony.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Now, we are

          4  going to try to do this last panel, and we are

          5  running one half hour behind schedule. With

          6  apologies, Catherine Hodes, Debbie Donastorg, Rachel

          7  Putterman, Kim Aherne, and Jeannette Larson.

          8                 Okay, so if you would all gather up

          9  and the appropriate person sit with the appropriate

         10  person, the Sergeant-At-Arms will move an additional

         11  table over.

         12                 And we have been joined by Council

         13  Member James Oddo from Staten Island, and Council

         14  Member, he is a member of the Committee on Women's

         15  Issues and has participated on these hearings on a

         16  very important topic, so we welcome him. And I think

         17  we may be joined by others before this is done.

         18                 Okay, folks, if you tell me who is

         19  going first, self-identify, begin your testimony.

         20  Read it if that is the most direct way to present.

         21  Only summarize it and highlight it if that actually

         22  saves time. Sometimes people are less comfortable so

         23  they try to summarize and highlight and they lose

         24  their place and it takes longer. So, whatever you

         25  are most comfortable with. This is very important
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          2  testimony. We will take the entire panel and then

          3  move to the agency. And again, we have done this in

          4  this way so that the issues are clearly delineated.

          5                 MS. HODES: Thank you. My name is

          6  Catherine Hodes, I am the Social Services Supervisor

          7  at Park Slope Safe Homes Project in Brooklyn, New

          8  York.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I know it

         10  well. The program, I mean.

         11                 MS. HODES: As the day has gone on I

         12  have been able to cut my testimony because some of

         13  my colleagues have already testified to some of

         14  these issues so I will be brief.

         15                 I have with me here a colleague,

         16  Debbie Donastorg, who is going to be speaking to you

         17  about the stories of two women that you need to

         18  hear.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Great.

         20                 MS. HODES: So, I am the Co-Chair,

         21  with Susan Lob, who you heard from this morning of

         22  the Child Welfare Committee of the Interagency Task

         23  Force on Domestic Violence. I am also a member of

         24  that Committee's failure to protect working group.

         25  And the working group issue to position paper
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          2  regarding Charging Battered Mothers With Failing To

          3  Protect in April of 1999, and in this paper which

          4  you have and which I hope you will be able to

          5  review, we make specific recommendations based on

          6  existing models around the country for improving the

          7  ACS response to cases of domestic violence.

          8                 Now, the title of today's hearing is

          9  the impact of ACS policies on victims of domestic

         10  violence, the vast majority of those victims are

         11  women and the policies we are discussing today

         12  overwhelmingly affect mothers.

         13                 Essentially the child welfare system

         14  continues to place the obligation to protect

         15  children solely upon mothers. As a result, issues of

         16  accountability for acts of domestic violence are

         17  completely lost and erased.

         18                 In the past six months there has been

         19  a dramatic increase in calls from ACS to our hot

         20  line in Brooklyn mandating battered mothers into

         21  domestic violence services, particularly in cases

         22  where children have been removed.

         23                 We are currently logging those calls

         24  separately from our other hot line calls in an

         25  effort to track them.
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          2                 In addition to this, ACS caseworkers

          3  are continually asking and demanding that we provide

          4  them with information and reports regarding women's

          5  progress, or as one worker put it, her

          6  rehabilitation.

          7                 They have asked us if a woman is

          8  likely to return to her batterer, or be battered

          9  again by someone else, and most disturbing, they

         10  have asked us if we consider this particular woman

         11  capable of protecting her children from the

         12  batterer.

         13                 Now, since we hold abusers

         14  accountable for acts of abuse, we can't state

         15  whether or not a woman has been rehabilitated and

         16  will not be battered again. We could only make that

         17  statement if a batterer had been rehabilitated.

         18                 We can't guarantee that a batterer

         19  will not continue to put his partner and his

         20  children at risk. And obviously, victims cannot

         21  guarantee that, but that is essentially what mothers

         22  are being told to do if they wish to be reunited

         23  with their children.

         24                 Now, studies have shown that

         25  protecting battered mothers increases the safety of
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          2  their children and results in fewer removals, so one

          3  would assume that ACS would conduct serious and

          4  thorough safety planning with victims, but that is

          5  not the case.

          6                 The safety options offered to

          7  battered mothers do not address the complex

          8  realities of their lives and involve unreasonable

          9  and at times inappropriate demands.

         10                 Women cannot always obtain shelter,

         11  they cannot always relocate, orders of protection

         12  may in fact increase rather than decrease the

         13  danger, and support groups and counseling are not

         14  always accessible to a battered woman, particularly,

         15  for example, if she is not English-speaking or

         16  disabled.

         17                 Women whose children have already

         18  been removed have a much harder time locating

         19  domestic violence shelters and they may be forced

         20  into the homeless system.

         21                 A mother we know on public assistance

         22  whose children were removed due to domestic

         23  violence, had her budget reduced and was unable to

         24  pay her rent. The loss of her housing resulted in

         25  her children remaining in foster care for an
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          2  additional year, even though she had followed every

          3  mandate in relation to the domestic violence.

          4                 Now, in answer to some of your

          5  questions, children are being removed from their

          6  mothers after the batterers have been arrested,

          7  after the mother has implemented a safety plan, and

          8  even after the mother and children have obtained

          9  shelter.

         10                 When we asked one ACS worker why she

         11  was removing a child from a mother who was in

         12  shelter, this is what she said: How do I know she

         13  won't return to him or get involved with another

         14  batterer? Once a battered woman, always a battered

         15  woman. And it seems that no battered woman can be

         16  regarded as a protective parent.

         17                 But battered mothers protect their

         18  children on a daily basis, in ways that are

         19  completely unrecognized and dismissed by courts,

         20  judges, law guardians, CPS workers and ACS.

         21                 Mothers sometimes report to us that

         22  staying with the abuser is safer for their children

         23  because they are able to monitor the interaction

         24  between the abuser and the child, rather than having

         25  to contend with unsupervised visits, which batterers
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          2  are routinely granted, even after battered mothers

          3  have been ordered to leave the home and remove the

          4  children or face neglect charges.

          5                 And when consequences are imposed

          6  upon the batterer, it is the mother, not the system,

          7  who is often made responsible for holding him

          8  accountable. She is the one that is required to keep

          9  him out of her life, to make sure that the kids

         10  visit but are not harmed in any way, to monitor the

         11  children's exposure to violence and to monitor the

         12  abuser's actions, but certainly not to alienate the

         13  children from their father.

         14                 She is the one forced to engage in

         15  numerous services, whether they are relevant or not

         16  to become rehabilitated. And she is the one that

         17  will suffer the consequences of removal if ACS

         18  considers anything to be amiss. And the trauma of

         19  these removals is incalculable.

         20                 The focus of intervention should be

         21  on protecting the mother together with her children.

         22  Efforts should be made to understand and acknowledge

         23  how the mother has kept herself and her child safe

         24  up to this point and safety planning should flow

         25  from that analysis. We need to change the paradigm
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          2  of best interest of the child to understand that

          3  safety for battered mother serves the best interest

          4  of the child. At the same time the safety planning

          5  and support are offered to the victim, it is

          6  imperative that we hold the perpetrator accountable.

          7                 Charging him with neglect, abuse or

          8  endangerment, removing him from the household,

          9  issuing an order of protection against him to the

         10  mother and child, preventing unsupervised contact

         11  and sometimes even supervised contact until such

         12  time as he completes the batterer's intervention

         13  program and demonstrates his ability to refrain from

         14  using violence are all parts of an accountability

         15  model.

         16                 And where batterers violate orders of

         17  protection or don't comply with court orders,

         18  criminal prosecution should be considered.

         19                 Now I am not going to detail the

         20  recommendations made in the Failure To Protect paper

         21  because that has been done by both Susan Lob and

         22  Linda Holmes and you have the paper there, so I am

         23  not going to review those, but what I will say is

         24  that there are models around the country, most

         25  notably in Massachusetts, which have demonstrably
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          2  lowered the rate of removals of children from

          3  battered mothers, and these models are also

          4  highlighted in the paper.

          5                 And my final note, I would like to

          6  say, that many battered mothers who come to the

          7  attention of ACS and Family Court are from poorer

          8  communities. They are struggling with the lack of

          9  child care, housing and employment, as well as

         10  abuse. Welfare reform has the potential impact of

         11  making it more difficult for women to access any

         12  sort of concrete safety net.

         13                 I seriously question whether any of

         14  us could fulfill the herculean expectations placed

         15  upon these mothers by ACS, and we are going to have

         16  to look at larger issues of discrimination and

         17  oppression if we are to craft programs and responses

         18  that really meet the needs of thousands of battered

         19  women and children in this City. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         21                 MS. DONASTORG: Good afternoon. My

         22  name is Debbie Donastorg, and I am the senior

         23  caseworker at the Park Slope Safe Homes Project.

         24                 Park Slope Safe Homes offers shelter,

         25  counseling and support groups and advocacy to
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          2  battered women and their children.

          3                 I have been working with Park Slope

          4  Safe Homes for the last four years, and I have prior

          5  experience working with preventive services. I am

          6  here today to speak on behalf of two of my current

          7  clients who as a result of domestic violence have

          8  had either the children removed or have been

          9  monitored by ACS. These mothers are not here for

         10  themselves, speaking for themselves, because they

         11  fear retaliation.

         12                 And I also have changed their names.

         13  And I am going to begin with Ms. Brown.

         14                 Ms. Brown is a young mother of two

         15  children who were removed by ACS in the winter of

         16  1997. This was also as a result of domestic

         17  violence.

         18                 In complying with all of the Family

         19  Court and ACS mandates, Ms. Brown secured an

         20  apartment and was able to regain custody of her

         21  children by the summer of 1998.

         22                 The father of her two children also

         23  cooperated and eventually rejoined the family in

         24  their new apartment. And ACS was familiar with the

         25  situation.
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          2                 When he became violent again toward

          3  Ms. Brown, she sought help from the police and had

          4  the abuser arrested. In an effort to protect her

          5  children and herself she filed for an order of

          6  exclusion. And this is to remove the abuser from the

          7  home. And in doing so she was mandated to attend --

          8  ACS then became involved again and she was mandated

          9  to attend a domestic violence support group and

         10  counseling and also was told that she was to provide

         11  the abuser with supervised visits with the children

         12  once a week.

         13                 So, during this process, Ms. Brown

         14  has been informed by her ACS worker that if the

         15  father does not comply with the mandates, she is at

         16  risk of losing her children.

         17                 To this day the abuser has not

         18  complied with the Family Court and ACS mandates and

         19  the abuser does not show up for the supervised

         20  visits for weeks at a time.

         21                 Ms. Brown was told by the ACS worker

         22  numerous times that she -- she has told the worker

         23  numerous times that she has no intentions of

         24  continuing with the relationship with the abuser.

         25  However, the abuser has informed ACS that he plans
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          2  to rejoin the family and therefore ACS continues to

          3  monitor her.

          4                 ACS makes surprise visits to the

          5  apartment so they can see if he is in the home. The

          6  ACS worker repeatedly threatens to remove the

          7  children if the abuser is found in the apartment.

          8                 Ms. Brown's children are severely

          9  traumatized. They are in constant fear of being

         10  removed or taken from their mother.

         11                 Ms. Brown feels that she has

         12  absolutely no control of this situation and it is

         13  obvious that she is being held responsible for the

         14  abuser's actions and non-compliance, and she is the

         15  one that will suffer the consequences, she is the

         16  one that suffers the removal of the children, if the

         17  abuser puts her once again at risk.

         18                 The next story --

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: May I just

         20  interrupt you for a minute?

         21                 MS. DONASTORG: Sure.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Is that

         23  standard procedure? I mean, is this a caseworker

         24  that is working on her own? Or is this the standard

         25  protocol from ACS that the victim is responsible for
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          2  the abuser's conduct and appearances at sessions?

          3                 MS. DONASTORG: I don't know if this

          4  is protocol or not, it seems inappropriate.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: It certainly

          6  seems inappropriate and it reminds me of the debate

          7  we had when victims were forced to serve their own

          8  order of protection on the batterer, and that has

          9  been stopped, so I can't possibly understand why ACS

         10  would do that. Have you questioned ACS on that?

         11                 MS. DONASTORG: A lot of my contacts

         12  have been either ignored, I do not get any

         13  call-backs, it is difficult to speak to supervisors

         14  overseeing these ACS workers.

         15                 Usually a lot of the advocacy I do

         16  with these women is like trying to go over their

         17  heads, because there is no other way of

         18  communicating or working with them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Council Member

         20  Eldridge is making notes and, so, for example, that

         21  is another question that we learn to ask and that is

         22  why we do it this way. I want to ask if you can just

         23  enter the second story in the record?

         24                 MS. DONASTORG: Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I appreciate
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          2  that, which we will do in full.

          3                 Kim Aherne, is it? Do I have it

          4  right? Whoever is next.

          5                 MS. PUTTERMAN: Rachel Putterman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Rachel

          7  Putterman, Queens Legal Services.

          8                 MS. PUTTERMAN: Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, I just

         10  want to make sure I have the right testimony.

         11                 Okay, the same thing, if you could

         12  either read it or paraphrase it, whatever is more

         13  comfortable for you.

         14                 MS. PUTTERMAN: Thank you.

         15                 My name is Rachel Putterman. I am a

         16  staff attorney in the Family Law Unit at Queens

         17  Legal Services. We represent women who are victims

         18  of domestic violence in Family Court and in Supreme

         19  Court. We represent the women in a range of family

         20  law matters, including divorce, orders of

         21  protection, child support custody and neglect

         22  proceedings.

         23                 The following is a story of one of

         24  the current neglect cases that our office is

         25  handling. This story best exemplifies ACS'
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          2  overzealous response in cases that involve domestic

          3  violence.

          4                 This case involves the removal of a

          5  two-day-old newborn from his mother by ACS based on

          6  alleged acts of domestic violence engaged in by the

          7  mother and father in the presence of the child.

          8                 In 1995, our client who I will call

          9  Ms. Smith, separated from her husband, and, yes, the

         10  names have been changed, separated from her husband

         11  and moved to Chicago with her four-year-old son.

         12  Several months later Ms. Smith became involved with

         13  a man who I will call Mr. Green.

         14                 In 1998, Ms. Smith and Mr. Green

         15  decided to separate and Mr. Green moved to New York.

         16  When Ms. Smith discovered she was pregnant with Mr.

         17  Green's child, she decided the child, which is the

         18  child in this case, she decided to join him in New

         19  York.

         20                 In February 1999, Ms. Smith and her

         21  eldest son moved to New York. Shortly after arriving

         22  in New York, Ms. Smith realized that she no longer

         23  wanted to live with Mr. Green and she wanted to

         24  return to Chicago. However, because she was six

         25  months pregnant she was advised not to fly. In June
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          2  of '99, Ms. Smith sent her eldest son to Chicago to

          3  live with her family. She planned to join her son in

          4  Chicago as soon as her baby was born. With a due

          5  date in mid-August, she bought a one-way plane

          6  ticket to fly from New York to Chicago on August

          7  26th.

          8                 On August 17th, Mr. Green moved out

          9  of the apartment and Ms. Smith had no idea where he

         10  was going.

         11                 On August 20th, Mr. Green showed up

         12  at the apartment, they began to argue and he

         13  assaulted here. Prior to this occasion there had

         14  been only one incident of domestic violence between

         15  Mr. Green and Ms. Smith, and that had been in July

         16  '97 in Chicago.

         17                 On August 21st, Ms. Smith gave birth

         18  to a healthy baby boy. After the birth and while she

         19  was still in the hospital, a hospital social worker

         20  approached her for unknown reasons and she got into

         21  the discussion with the social worker about the

         22  problems she had been having with Mr. Green. Two

         23  days later, on August 23rd, Ms. Smith and her baby

         24  went home from the hospital. Within two hours of

         25  arriving at home an ACS caseworker showed up in Ms.
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          2  Smith's apartment and asked her numerous questions

          3  about Mr. Green.

          4                 Ms. Smith told the ACS caseworker

          5  that Mr. Green had left her home before the birth of

          6  her son and she had no idea where he was living. The

          7  ACS caseworker searched the entire apartment and

          8  found no sign of Mr. Green.

          9                 The ACS caseworker also questioned

         10  Ms. Smith about her plans to care for her baby. She

         11  explained she was planning on flying to Chicago, she

         12  showed the case worker her packed suitcases and her

         13  plane ticket. Ms. Smith told the caseworker that her

         14  mother, sister and brother lived in Chicago and

         15  would provide her and her baby with support and

         16  assistance.

         17                 The caseworker seemed satisfied and

         18  left the home. Thirty minutes later the caseworker

         19  returned with 12 policemen in seven police cars and

         20  another ACS worker. They removed the baby, the

         21  two-day-old baby from Ms. Smith's arms, she had been

         22  breastfeeding him since he had been born. Ms. Smith,

         23  of course, was extremely distraught and fearfully

         24  asked why her baby was being taken away from her.

         25  The response was that she had put herself and her
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          2  baby in danger.

          3                 Despite being extremely traumatized

          4  by the removal of her child, Ms. Smith wasted no

          5  time in satisfying ACS' numerous conditions for the

          6  return of her child. The very next day after the

          7  removal, Ms. Smith contacted Victim Services. She

          8  was not referred to Victims Services by ACS, she

          9  received no referrals at this point from ACS but was

         10  referred to Victims Services by the foster care

         11  agency, and through Victims Services she eventually

         12  enrolled in a domestic violence program.

         13                 To date Ms. Smith has met every one

         14  of ACS' demands. She has moved to a different

         15  apartment, attended several sessions of a domestic

         16  violence program, started a parenting skills course,

         17  and begun individual counseling.

         18                 The grounds for the removal of this

         19  newborn baby from his mother as stated in a neglect

         20  petition, are that the mother and father, "engaged

         21  in acts of domestic violence in the presence of the

         22  subject child."

         23                 However, no violence occurred in the

         24  presence of this child because the child had not yet

         25  been born.
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          2                 By charging Ms. Smith with neglect

          3  and removing her child, ACS seems to be attempting

          4  to broaden the scope of the grounds for neglect, to

          5  include acts of domestic violence which occurred in

          6  the presence of an unborn fetus. There is absolutely

          7  no support for this in the law.

          8                 The inclusion of domestic violence in

          9  the presence of a child as a grounds for neglect or

         10  failure to protect is based on a consensus among

         11  child welfare experts that domestic violence in the

         12  presence of children causes emotional harm for

         13  children.

         14                 However, in this case the child had

         15  not yet been born and therefore could not have been

         16  emotionally harmed by any domestic violence.

         17                 Even if the child had been born,

         18  there still would not have been a basis to remove

         19  the child. The law is clear that in cases of neglect

         20  based on domestic violence, there must be a pattern

         21  rather than a single incident of domestic violence.

         22                 Ms. Smith's baby was removed based on

         23  two isolated incidences of domestic violence, one of

         24  which occurred during the pregnancy, and the second

         25  of which occurred more than one and a half years
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          2  before she was even pregnant.

          3                 The tragedy of this case is somewhat

          4  ameliorated by the fact that Ms. Smith's baby was

          5  returned to her two days ago. Nevertheless, the

          6  emotional harm caused to Ms. Smith and to her

          7  newborn baby cannot be underestimated.

          8                 ACS' removal deprived both mother and

          9  son of crucial bonding time. ACS' actions are

         10  particularly egregious in light of Ms. Smith's plan

         11  to move to Chicago in order to get as far away from

         12  her batterer as possible, a plan which she

         13  communicated to ACS.

         14                 Rather than ensuring the safety of

         15  Ms. Smith and her baby, ACS' actions have kept Ms.

         16  Smith in the same jurisdiction as her batterer.

         17                 Most importantly, this baby has been

         18  deprived of irreplaceable bonding time by being

         19  separated from his mother during the first two

         20  months of his life.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         23                 Next.

         24                 MS. AHERNE: My name is Kim Aherne, I

         25  am a social worker at Barrier-Free Living Domestic
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          2  Violence Program. We work with disabled victims of

          3  domestic violence. I am just going to say a couple

          4  of words about my agency and then I am going to let

          5  a client of mine, Jeannette Larson, tell her story.

          6                 At Barrier-Free Living we are working

          7  with a number of women who have come to us after

          8  having had their children be removed, they have been

          9  charged with Failure to Protect.

         10                 In addition, their disabilities have

         11  been a factor in the removal of their children and

         12  we have had to do a tremendous amount of advocacy on

         13  a case-by-case basis with both ACS and foster care

         14  workers to let them know that being a victim of

         15  domestic violence does not mean that they are a bad

         16  parent, and having a disability does not mean that

         17  they are a bad parent.

         18                 I want to just mention one other

         19  thing about shelter accessibility that came up

         20  earlier today.

         21                 Right now in the domestic violence

         22  shelter system, there are basically no beds

         23  available that are accessible for disabled victims.

         24  So when ACS tells a client of ours that they have to

         25  go to a shelter to avoid removal of their children,
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          2  they are being told to be doing something that is

          3  impossible.

          4                 So, I just want to turn it over to

          5  Jeanette.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, thank

          7  you.

          8                 MS. LARSON: Hello. My name is

          9  Jeanette Larson. Thank you for letting me speak. I

         10  want to tell you my story because my son was

         11  traumatized. My son Christian was removed from me

         12  when he was ten months old. ACS charged me with

         13  child abuse, neglect, drug use and leaving him home

         14  alone. All of these charges were later proved

         15  unfounded. I was also told that I was incapable of

         16  taking care of my son because of my VP shunt, which

         17  is my disability. People that have disability are

         18  discriminated against because of this.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Would you be

         20  more comfortable in may assisting her in present the

         21  statement?

         22                 MS. AHERNE: Yes.

         23                 MS. LARSON: Yes.

         24                 MS. AHERNE: I am going to go ahead

         25  and just read her testimony. I have a copy of it

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            118

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  here.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Do you want

          4  some water or something first?

          5                 MS. AHERNE: I am going to continue

          6  where she left off.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Yes, she might

          8  be a little more comfortable.

          9                 MS. AHERNE: Approximately two months

         10  after my son was removed, while I was in court

         11  trying to regain custody, ACS told me I was supposed

         12  to have moved to a domestic violence shelter with my

         13  son because his father had been abusing me. This is

         14  the first time they brought up the domestic

         15  violence. They tried to bring up his father's

         16  criminal past, saying he was a felon and out on

         17  parole.

         18                 What does this have to do with me or

         19  my son? How was I supposed to move to a shelter with

         20  my son when he was already removed from me?

         21                 I had also not been given the names

         22  of any domestic violence shelters. I got a list on

         23  my own, and when I called I was told I was too

         24  young, too old, or I had to have custody of my son

         25  to be placed in one of these shelters.
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          2                 My mother told me to get domestic

          3  violence counseling in order for my son to come home

          4  again. Again I was not given any referrals by ACS. A

          5  friend of mine gave me the number for Barrier-Free

          6  Living.

          7                 ACS was also supposed to get me

          8  housing, which they never did. I got the number of

          9  Sinergia, an agency that helps with housing for

         10  people with disabilities on my own.

         11                 My son came home almost two years ago

         12  after two years in foster care placement and has

         13  severe separation anxiety. I can't go to the

         14  bathroom, take a shower or do anything without my

         15  son right there. I have to be in his eyesight

         16  because he is afraid that I am not going to come

         17  back for him or that someone is going to take him.

         18                 He makes himself throw up at school

         19  so I have to leave my school and go pick him up.

         20                 He will not sleep in his own bed and

         21  he wakes up screaming at night. My son should not

         22  have been traumatized like this. He should not have

         23  been removed from me.

         24                 I don't think ACS is aware of the

         25  long-term damage that was done to him. If I was
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          2  given referrals to domestic violence shelters before

          3  he was removed, this never would have happened.

          4                 I had problems with the ACS worker

          5  who was working on my case, as well. I found her to

          6  be unprofessional - she made comments about me being

          7  with a Hispanic m an, and she left confidential

          8  records of another client in my house. I filed a

          9  complaint to her supervisor but no action was taken.

         10  ACS workers need to get proper training in dealing

         11  with families with domestic violence so this doesn't

         12  happen to another mother. When there is domestic

         13  violence, the woman and the child should be removed

         14  together to provide safety.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Is anybody

         16  helping you with psychological services for your

         17  son?

         18                 MS. AHEARNE: We do some work with

         19  children who witness violence in their home and we

         20  have been doing some work with her son.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But it seems

         22  to me that the trauma is more than the violence,

         23  seeing violence in the home, it is the effects of

         24  the foster care. So has there been any kind of

         25  legal, an attempt to get --
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          2                 MS. AHEARNE: No. That is something

          3  that we are also addressing in counseling with the

          4  son and with the mother, but I don't think there was

          5  any counseling when he was in foster care, right?

          6                 MS. LARSON: No.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And was he

          8  in one placement when he was in foster care?

          9                 MS. LARSON: Yes, he was.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: With a

         11  family?

         12                 MS. LARSON: Yes. With a foster

         13  family.

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And do you

         15  have any connection with the foster family now?

         16                 MS. LARSON: No, I had lost their

         17  number.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I am sorry?

         19                 MS. LARSON: I had lost their number.

         20  They had gave me the number when they gave me back

         21  my son.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Did he like

         23  that foster care family?

         24                 MS. LARSON: Yes, he did.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So you can't
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          2  get the number again without trying to --

          3                 MS. LARSON: No, not without going

          4  through the agency and the agency won't give it to

          5  me.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I see. Okay,

          7  thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, we are

          9  happy to know that you are working with the folks at

         10  Barrier-Free Living, and certainly they are working,

         11  as they do, a lot of these organizations in network

         12  with other advocates and providers. So, hopefully

         13  they can directly and through networks of providers,

         14  many of whom are here, they can continue to assist

         15  you.

         16                 Thank you for coming today, I know it

         17  was difficult.

         18                 Thank you all for being part of the

         19  hearing.

         20                 Okay, what we are doing now is going

         21  to get ACS to come join us. They have sent Assistant

         22  Commissioner for Protective Services and Associate

         23  Commissioner for External Affairs.

         24                 Anne Williams, and Zeinab Chahine, if

         25  I am saying that right.
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          2                 Clearly, we will assume, momentarily

          3  as they are joining us, that they have some prepared

          4  testimony and remarks and we certainly want to hear

          5  that, but it is clear, based on everything that has

          6  happened so far that we have some very key and

          7  compelling areas which we would like to discuss, so

          8  if you want to present and then take questions,

          9  which is fine. If you have been able to edit the

         10  testimony to cover some anticipated questions, that

         11  is helpful.

         12                 Essentially we are interested in ACS'

         13  role in this area, the question of the taking of

         14  children, the questions of failure to protect and

         15  all of the related issues, which no doubt the staff

         16  who have been here have reported to you, and we

         17  welcome you to the hearing. These are joint

         18  hearings. So, as soon as you are ready, if you would

         19  self identify and begin your testimony, we would

         20  appreciate it.

         21                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Good

         22  morning. My name is Zeinab Chahine, and I am the

         23  Associate Commissioner for the Division of Child

         24  Protection at ACS.

         25                 Chairpersons DiBrienza and Eldridge,
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          2  and members of the General Welfare Committee, and

          3  Women's Issues Committee.

          4                 The Administration for Children's

          5  Services, ACS, welcomes this opportunity to come

          6  before you and present the reports on ACS' domestic

          7  violence initiative.

          8                 ACS' mission is to protect and ensure

          9  the safety and the well-being of the City's children

         10  and families. To fulfill this mission, ACS annually

         11  investigates over 50,000 reports of abuse and

         12  neglect, provides an array of preventive, supportive

         13  and counseling services to keep families intact and

         14  trains and recruits foster parents and care-givers

         15  so that they may provide safe, temporary homes for

         16  foster children.

         17                 When the current administration

         18  created ACS, it was the first time a City agency was

         19  created to exclusively deal with the issues that

         20  affect the children and families of the City of New

         21  York.

         22                 Since the creation of ACS, the agency

         23  has totally reformed the manner in which child

         24  welfare services are provided.

         25                 ACS has identified domestic violence
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          2  as a substantial factor in abuse and neglect cases.

          3  According to the ACS accountability review panel

          4  report in 1996, 54.2 percent of the child fatality

          5  cases occurred in families that had incidence of

          6  domestic violence.

          7                 In 1997, 40 percent of the child

          8  fatality cases occurred in families that had had

          9  incidence of domestic violence in the four years

         10  preceding the fatality.

         11                 ACS recognizes this close and

         12  integral relationship between domestic violence and

         13  child abuse. ACS is also sensitive to the fact that

         14  when adults are victims of domestic violence, their

         15  home environment often causes an increased level of

         16  risk to children. In such circumstances, it is the

         17  duty and the mission of ACS to ensure the safety of

         18  the children, while being mindful of the needs of

         19  the adult victim and to create an environment that

         20  is safe for both the children and the victimized

         21  adult.

         22                 Although we recognize the correlation

         23  between domestic violence and child abuse, the fact

         24  that domestic violence occurs in home does not

         25  always warrant a result in the removal of a child.
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          2  This decision must be based on a thorough assessment

          3  of all the circumstances of each individual case.

          4                 Thus, ACS understands that it is

          5  crucial to utilize appropriate risk assessment tools

          6  so that an informed and reliable judgment can be

          7  made as to whether services, including appropriate

          8  measures, to exclude from the home and hold

          9  accountable the batterer can be provided, so that

         10  the abused partner and the children can be kept

         11  together or promptly reunited in a safe environment.

         12                 Manifestly, this risk assessment and

         13  provision of appropriate services must be part of a

         14  comprehensive plan to address the destructive

         15  consequences of domestic violence and to counter its

         16  terrible impact upon children. Such a plan must,

         17  among other things, provide for special expertise

         18  and widespread specialized training. I will describe

         19  some of the measures that ACS has already taken, is

         20  currently taking and is planning to take to address

         21  this most serious problem.

         22                 A significant first step was the

         23  creation, in January 1997, of the position of

         24  Domestic Violence Coordinator, to coordinate the

         25  agency's efforts and to improve its existing array
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          2  of programs and to identify program innovations.

          3                 The current coordinator brings to ACS

          4  the benefit of more than ten years of experience in

          5  the field of domestic violence.

          6                 Recognizing that caseworkers are the

          7  most frequent point of contact between ACS and

          8  families affected by domestic violence, we have made

          9  it a priority to ensure that staff are able to

         10  identify cases in which domestic violence is a

         11  factor, are aware of the resources available to

         12  these families and are equipped to make referrals to

         13  appropriate services.

         14                 In 1996, ACS and Columbia University

         15  created a domestic violence training program.

         16                 While the core curriculum provided to

         17  caseworkers at the Satterwhite Academy incorporates

         18  domestic violence issues into the entire program,

         19  caseworkers also receive two full days of training

         20  dedicated exclusively to handling cases involving

         21  domestic violence.

         22                 The two-day training program defines

         23  domestic violence and explores the perceptions,

         24  beliefs and feelings about domestic violence.

         25                 Training is then given on substantive
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          2  topics, which include: the effects of domestic

          3  violence, the indicators and signs of domestic

          4  violence, strategies for interviewing the victim of

          5  domestic violence, strategies for interviewing the

          6  victims of domestic violence, strategies for

          7  interviewing the batterer, accessing the assistance

          8  of law enforcement, assessing the risk posed to the

          9  child, and the legal issues related to domestic

         10  violence.

         11                 These last two topics include a

         12  reiteration of the legal standard for the removal of

         13  children, and emphasizes that the presence of

         14  domestic violence is not in and of itself a

         15  sufficient basis for the removal of a child. Rather,

         16  the entire situation must be assessed to determine

         17  whether the circumstances present an imminent risk

         18  to the children. Since 1996, 1,522 caseworkers have

         19  received this training.

         20                 Recently, ACS has further enhanced

         21  domestic violence training and awareness through the

         22  provision of teen relationship abuse training to

         23  congregate care and group home care providers and

         24  makes available supplemental training to caseworkers

         25  to keep them abreast of new developments.
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          2                 The ACS Family Violence Prevention

          3  Project, which had its beginnings in the 1993 Zone C

          4  Pilot Project, which was a collaboration between

          5  ACS, then CWA, HRA, the Urban Justice Center,

          6  Columbia School of Social Work, and the Manhattan

          7  Borough President's Office.

          8                 This program evolved out of a

          9  consensus among child welfare officials and domestic

         10  violence advocates to find ways of working together

         11  on cases where the mother of neglected and abused

         12  children was herself the victim of domestic

         13  violence.

         14                 Prior to its implementation in New

         15  York, this new collaboration was not being done in

         16  any systemic way in the United States. Our primary

         17  focus was to find new ways of thinking about and

         18  responding to the problem of domestic violence in

         19  child welfare cases.

         20                 The Pilot initially focused on

         21  ensuring that caseworkers in Zone C of the Manhattan

         22  Child Protective Field Office, using a newly

         23  developed protocol, were able to effectively screen

         24  for domestic violence on every new case, make

         25  adequate assessments and provide appropriate
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          2  services when domestic violence was uncovered.

          3                 This program has provided Child

          4  Protective Services with a valuable resource that

          5  can be used to refer appropriate cases to child

          6  welfare agencies that specialize in the provision of

          7  domestic violence services. This Pilot lasted for

          8  six months and formed the basis of the work that is

          9  continuing.

         10                 Based of the success and the lessons

         11  learned from the 1993 Pilot Project, in 1994 ACS

         12  expanded and improved upon this program by creating

         13  the Family Violence Project.

         14                 The Manhattan preventive services

         15  programs that participated in the 1993 pilot project

         16  were joined by four preventive service programs on

         17  Staten Island.

         18                 They and other interested preventive

         19  services program from across New York City began to

         20  meet with the Family Violence Prevention Project

         21  Team co-led by the ACS Preventive Services

         22  Development Office and the Urban Justice Center.

         23                 This team developed a Preventive

         24  Services Domestic Violence Screening Questionnaire,

         25  which the participating preventive services agreed
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          2  to use within 30 days of opening all new cases.

          3                 Through this program the Urban

          4  Justice Centre provided enhanced ongoing training on

          5  domestic violence to assist agency workers and

          6  supervisors in the ongoing effort to develop and

          7  refine effective means of intervention.

          8                 The data gathered from the protective

          9  and preventive services questionnaires were

         10  evaluated by the Columbia School of Social Work,

         11  which found that when Child Protective Services

         12  workers knew how to screen for domestic violence

         13  they were more apt to uncover and that the provision

         14  of effective services could prevent the need for

         15  foster care in some cases.

         16                 It also demonstrated that almost half

         17  of the cases that became known to preventive

         18  services during the period of the evaluation

         19  involved domestic violence.

         20                 ACS and the Urban Justice Center

         21  continue to work together to further enhance and

         22  shape the intervention model that was designed for

         23  the family violence prevention project.

         24                 The model seeks to perfect children

         25  when possible by ensuring that the non-abusive
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          2  partner is safe, and then assisting the victim to

          3  ensure that her children are safe as well.

          4                 Of course, ACS' primary mission

          5  remains the safety and protection of the child.

          6  However, the work with the Family Violence

          7  Prevention Project will guide our policy decisions

          8  so that ensuring the safety of the children can be

          9  advanced by effectively addressing the domestic

         10  violence issues, and by designing effective

         11  intervention to prevent the need for foster care

         12  placement.

         13                 The Family Violence Prevention

         14  Project has expanded over the past three years as

         15  more preventive service agencies have asked to join.

         16                 In December 1997, $200,000 was

         17  awarded to the ACS budget to provide funding for the

         18  continuation of the work with the preventive service

         19  agencies and for a new pilot in the Manhattan Child

         20  Protection Field Offices.

         21                 ACS also hired a domestic violence

         22  specialist for the Manhattan Child Protective Field

         23  Office to assist child protective service workers to

         24  more effectively intervene in cases of domestic

         25  violence. The domestic violence specialist began in
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          2  March of 1999.

          3                 In 1999, the Family Violence

          4  Prevention Project reached its highest level in both

          5  size and scope. A one-year contract for training and

          6  technical assistance was awarded to the Urban

          7  Justice Center in March 1999.

          8                 Currently over 40 of ACS' contracted

          9  preventive service programs are participating in the

         10  Family Violence Prevention Project, and

         11  participation will be expanded to 50 programs by

         12  March 2000.

         13                 Staff from these programs receive

         14  training on the dynamics of abuse in families,

         15  training issues include identification techniques,

         16  effective interventions, successful treatment

         17  modalities. The Urban Justice Center has developed a

         18  protocol for the identification of domestic violence

         19  and provides ongoing case consultations to the staff

         20  of these agencies.

         21                 A new initiative funded by the Urban

         22  Justice Center trains selected staff from agencies

         23  involved in the Family Violence Prevention Project

         24  to provide psycho-educational groups for abusive

         25  partners known to preventive services as part of the
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          2  service package for the entire family.

          3                 There are currently "Abusive Partner

          4  Intervention" groups running in Manhattan, Queens

          5  and Staten Island, with groups starting shortly in

          6  the Bronx and Brooklyn.

          7                 The abusive partner groups are unique

          8  in that the entire family is involved with the

          9  preventive services program, not just the batterer,

         10  as is the case in other intervention programs.

         11                 Thus, while the batterer is attending

         12  26 weekly classes, which focus on the batterer

         13  taking responsibility for the violence and, thus,

         14  ending it, the non-abusive partner is receiving

         15  support through support groups or counseling at the

         16  preventive service agency.

         17                 Presently, ACS is working with the

         18  Urban Justice Center to develop several planning

         19  sessions with senior ACS executives to devise

         20  long-term strategic solutions to the challenge of

         21  helping children and non-abusive parents to be safe,

         22  while holding their batterers accountable.

         23                 Also, ACS has just released an RFP

         24  for a three-year contract at $200,000 per annum to

         25  continue and expand the work of the Family Violence
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          2  Prevention Project.

          3                 In those cases where the removal of a

          4  child is the appropriate response, ACS' desire is

          5  not to keep the child separated from the non-abusive

          6  parent, but to provide the support and services

          7  needed to reunite the family in a safe environment.

          8                 To achieve this goal a case

          9  conference is held within three to five days of the

         10  removal of a child. This "Child Safety Conference"

         11  is a multi-disciplinary conference which brings

         12  together the parents, caseworkers, members of the

         13  family support networks, such as extended family,

         14  teachers, neighbors, doctors or clergy, to develop a

         15  plan to ensure the family receives the services that

         16  it needs in order for the child to safely return

         17  home.

         18                 Another major initiative of ACS is

         19  the formation of the Coordinating Committee for

         20  Children, which brings together every City agency

         21  whose work impacts children. Thus, the Commissioner

         22  of ACS, and other senior managers, meet regularly

         23  with the commissioners or senior representatives of

         24  ten City agencies including the Human Resources

         25  Administration, the Department of Corrections, the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            136

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  Health and Hospitals Corporation, the New York City

          3  Police Department, the Department of Homeless

          4  Services, the Department of Probation, the

          5  Department of Youth and Community Development, the

          6  Department of Juvenile Justice, the Department of

          7  Health, Mental Health and Alcoholism Services and

          8  the Department of Parks and Recreation, as well as

          9  with representatives of the five District Attorneys.

         10                 At the last meeting of this group,

         11  held on September 30th, 1999, no fewer than seven

         12  group members described and discussed initiatives

         13  taken by those agencies and offices to combat

         14  domestic violence. Subcommittees of the Coordinating

         15  Committee for Children then work together to

         16  coordinate the implementation of these initiatives.

         17                 On May 5th, 1998, ACS and NYPD began

         18  their collaboration to conduct joint investigations.

         19  On cases involving child fatality, severe child

         20  abuse and sexual abuse, with the formation of the

         21  Instant Response Teams in Manhattan, Queens and

         22  Staten Island. By June 1998, the Instant Response

         23  Teams Program was implemented in all five boroughs,

         24  and as of September 1999, the teams responded to

         25  approximately 2000 cases.
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          2                 The mission of these teams is to

          3  improve coordination between ACS and law

          4  enforcement. The program is also used to provide a

          5  multi-disciplinary team response in domestic

          6  violence cases. This allows for more coordination

          7  between ACS and NYPD investigators in domestic

          8  violence cases, which results in reduced trauma for

          9  children and adult victims.

         10                 One of the main objectives of the

         11  Instant Response Team Program is to protect children

         12  from abuse and maltreatment by ensuring that

         13  evidence is gathered in a timely, effective and

         14  coordinated manner, thereby laying the foundation

         15  for criminal prosecution of the abuser, which in

         16  domestic violence cases would be the abusive spouse.

         17                 The second major objective of the

         18  program is to minimize the trauma to the children.

         19                 During the investigation process

         20  joint interviews are held by specially trained staff

         21  to reduce the trauma produced by repetitive and

         22  insensitive interviewing. When possible, the

         23  interviews and medical examinations are conducted in

         24  child-friendly surroundings such as Child Advocacy

         25  Centers and special child abuse clinics.
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          2                 In addition, whenever possible and

          3  appropriate, the Instant Response Team will remove

          4  the alleged abuser from the premises instead of the

          5  children.

          6                 In July 1999, ACS, NYPD, and the

          7  Urban Justice Center implemented a pilot project in

          8  Manhattan Zone A. This pilot, which ends in

          9  December, covers Community Districts 9, 10 and 12.

         10  The evaluation of the pilot will be used to inform

         11  our efforts to replicate this project throughout the

         12  City.

         13                 These reforms and new initiatives

         14  demonstrates ACS' strong commitment to addressing

         15  the impact of domestic violence. ACS is also

         16  committed to continuing to work with domestic

         17  violence advocates, the Urban Justice Center and

         18  other stake-holders to develop and implement

         19  effective strategies to address the impact domestic

         20  violence has on the lives of children of the City of

         21  New York.

         22                 While the implementation of case

         23  conferencing, the Manhattan Zone C Project, the

         24  Family Violence Prevention Project, Instant Response

         25  Teams and Manhattan Zone A Project, the creation of
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          2  the position of Domestic Violence Coordinator, and

          3  enhanced caseworker training all evidence this deep

          4  commitment, we acknowledge that our work is not

          5  complete. ACS invites the City Council and other

          6  stakeholders to join us as partners as we continue

          7  our efforts and find ways to better ensure that the

          8  children of this City are protected from abuse,

          9  neglect or violence.

         10                 To achieve this goal requires a

         11  community-wide effort. All of the systems that deal

         12  with families and children must join and coordinate

         13  their efforts and resources to combat the

         14  dehabilitating impact domestic violence has on the

         15  children and adult victims.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you. I

         18  just have a couple of questions or comments.

         19                 Something is wrong. Something is

         20  dramatically wrong. We cannot spend two and a half

         21  hours here listening to witness after witness,

         22  advocate after advocate, client after client,

         23  attorney after attorney with documented cases,

         24  including numerous wins in court, describe a system

         25  as they have described it and then listen to ten

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            140

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  pages of your testimony describe a completely

          3  different system without believing something is

          4  wrong. Something is amiss.

          5                 Unless you are both from different

          6  planets, experiencing different worlds and

          7  different, you know, cities, something is amiss.

          8                 Now, isn't it true that contrary to

          9  your testimony where the presence of the domestic

         10  violence you say is not in and of itself a

         11  sufficient basis for the removal of a child; isn't

         12  it true that in fact the presence of domestic

         13  violence is in and of itself your basis, your

         14  agency's basis for removal of the child? Isn't that

         15  what happens every day under your agency?

         16                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: As I

         17  stated, every case is unique in its circumstances,

         18  and the assessment that has to go into individual

         19  cases is unique.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: So you would

         21  say it is not true?

         22                 I am saying to you I believe the

         23  presence of domestic violence is in and of itself

         24  your basis for the removal of children. I guess you

         25  would say that is not true, that you do a
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          2  case-by-case analysis.

          3                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We do

          4  a case-by-case assessment and analysis. We take into

          5  consideration all of the safety factors that

          6  contribute to a child being in immediate danger, and

          7  that is our basis for the removal of a child.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, we

          9  disagree. I think you simply remove those kids

         10  because of the presence of domestic violence. So we

         11  disagree. And I would like to see the protocols in

         12  writing that you used in each and every case to do

         13  this full assessment, because I don't believe it,

         14  number one.

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

         16  will be happy to provide you with the protocols.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         18                 Number two, isn't it correct, isn't

         19  it true that caseworkers, front-line caseworkers are

         20  under enormous pressure to simply remove children in

         21  every case when domestic violence is present, or

         22  they are going to get in trouble with the bosses at

         23  ACS; isn't that true?

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I am

         25  going to turn to my colleague to answer the
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          2  question.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          4                 Identify yourself for the record.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          6  Oh, I am sorry. I am Anne Williams-Isom, and I am

          7  the Assistant Commissioner for External Affairs at

          8  ACS.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: What does that

         10  mean?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         12  It includes our Units of Community Planning and

         13  Development, our Advocacy Unit, that deals with any

         14  kind of problems that may come in from birth

         15  parents, foster parents.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Great.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         18  Also, our Interagency Unit, which deals with the

         19  interactions between other City agencies.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Is that true

         21  that that is the pressure the workers find

         22  themselves under, that in fact they have to take

         23  kids, or they get in trouble. It is not a matter of

         24  maybe you are damned if you do, damned if you don't,

         25  to paraphrase the earlier witness, but only damned
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          2  if you don't.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          4  I think that the pressure that our caseworkers are

          5  under are trying to make life and death situations

          6  about children's safety, so I think that it is a job

          7  filled with a lot of pressure, and that is why we

          8  are trying to improve the training that they go

          9  through to give them support --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: That is not

         11  what I am asking.

         12                 I just want to know -- and you don't

         13  have to agree, I think you probably don't agree. I

         14  am asking you if it is a fact that they have to take

         15  the kids because that is the pressure they are

         16  under, and you guys get mad if they don't take the

         17  kids based solely on the presence of domestic

         18  violence. That is the sum and substance of two and a

         19  half hours of testimony. It was a lot more

         20  compelling and there was a lot more detail, but the

         21  sum and substance of two and a half hours was the

         22  pressure is on, if there is domestic violence, the

         23  victim is the woman in 99 percent of the time, you

         24  get there, you see domestic violence, you take the

         25  kid and say you failed to protect. And that is the
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          2  only pressure, and that is the only factor.

          3                 Now, you said to the first one it is

          4  not, and I am asking you --

          5                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: And

          6  the answer to your next question is no.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          8                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

          9  Workers must assess every situation on its merit,

         10  and only a removal is made when there is imminent

         11  danger to a child.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         13                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Also,

         14  we must file a neglect or abuse petition in Family

         15  Court within the business day. Those petitions are

         16  reviewed by the court and if we are removing a child

         17  inappropriately that is something that would be

         18  uncovered promptly in the legal process as well.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Two more and I

         20  am done.

         21                 I take it, though, however, that the

         22  case, this recent decision where the court said you

         23  routinely take kids without declaring an emergency,

         24  without fully investigating, and you lost the

         25  serious Appellate Division, if I am not mistaken,
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          2  case, may indicate that what you are saying is not

          3  the reality of what goes on.

          4                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I

          5  can't comment on the case. I can tell you that one

          6  situation does not --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: The case is

          8  over. You can comment when cases are over.

          9                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I am

         10  sorry?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Legally one

         12  could comment when cases are over. You probably

         13  can't comment --

         14                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I am

         15  not prepared to comment on that case.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

         17                 Finally, you know, there have been

         18  references from the day this agency was created, the

         19  Mayor's reference that we do too much to keep

         20  families together, new emphasis would be on taking

         21  children, presumptions of families and care-givers

         22  being perhaps guilty, the need to prove they are not

         23  abusing. And, again, that is the general universe,

         24  but to keep it focused on today's topic, domestic

         25  violence, why is it your protocol, or why is it your
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          2  practice, if not your written protocol to charge so

          3  many of the women victims with the failure to

          4  protect? What is it that you believe these women are

          5  guilty of by making, you know, or being in the

          6  unfortunate circumstances of being beat by a

          7  batterer, and even if that child observes it, what

          8  exactly is the rationale?

          9                 Do you look at cities and states

         10  across this country that are apparently moving in

         11  different directions? What is the rationale that

         12  drives this process, if it is not, since you

         13  answered no to the first three questions, if it is

         14  not simply this desire to pull kids?

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I can

         16  share with you some of the statistics of the recent

         17  years about children being in care.

         18                 For 1996, 1997 we had about 43,000

         19  children in foster care. Currently, we have about

         20  36,600 cases --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: No, I am

         22  sorry. Okay, go ahead, finish your statement.

         23                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: If I

         24  may finish?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: YES.
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          2                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Our

          3  removals are down about 14 percent. So our effort is

          4  not to remove children. Our efforts is our

          5  preventive service referrals are increasing from

          6  protective services. In fact, it seems all of these

          7  indicators are leading us to believe that ACS is

          8  moving in the right direction in trying to emphasize

          9  to keep families together and to, through the pilot

         10  projects that we are currently implementing, for

         11  instance, the Manhattan Zone A pilot project --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, everyone

         13  applauded that, and you switched though. You

         14  switched to the general numbers.

         15                 I have no problem with, you know -- I

         16  am not here to attack the foster care system which

         17  is the right circumstances which often are there,

         18  provide valuable service. I am not there to dispute

         19  a statistic that says there are less children in

         20  foster care, you know, frozen in time than there

         21  were a year or two ago, that there is, given the

         22  adoption of Safe Families Act there is more

         23  permanency planning at the end, that is the broad

         24  picture when we do a general oversight.

         25                 You switch in your statistics from
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          2  the folks involved in domestic violence, because I

          3  think that is what is indefensible.

          4                 I think you can't defend the fact

          5  that the presence of domestic violence drives you to

          6  pull the kids, that you charged too many of these

          7  victims with failure to protect and that you lose

          8  case after case on the decision-making process and

          9  that those workers are under incredible pressure in

         10  these domestic violence cases. So that is really

         11  unfortunate that you switched to the broad

         12  statistic, because I didn't attack the broad

         13  statistic.

         14                 So, I would like, as I turn it over

         15  to my colleague, Council Member Eldridge, Chair of

         16  the Committee, you might want to remember to address

         17  it in relation to domestic violence victims and how

         18  many children are pulled or not pulled. That is

         19  really what we are focused on and that is what the

         20  terrible allegations have been all morning.

         21                 In fact, if allegations hit the

         22  crescendo in saying that even if you judge ACS on

         23  the whole, more children have died under your watch

         24  than not, and then in the year before. But that is,

         25  again we will deal with that at the broader
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          2  oversight hearings.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 Council Member Eldridge. Thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you. I

          7  am sorry that I am the only person here from two

          8  committees, it seems a little overwhelming. Council

          9  Member DiBrienza has an appointment that he has to

         10  keep.

         11                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I am

         12  sorry, Chairperson, my colleague would like to

         13  answer the previous question, if she may?

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes, go

         15  ahead.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         17  Yes. I just wanted to point out that as you are well

         18  aware that we are mandated by law to consider acts

         19  of commission as well as acts of omission. And that

         20  is why, again, that caseworkers are under a lot of

         21  pressure, and when they in fact do find that a child

         22  is in imminent danger, and have to make a removal

         23  and that happens before, but afterwards they would

         24  consult with our attorney, and based on the evidence

         25  that we would have, then we would decide whether or
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          2  not a petition for Failure To Protect would in fact

          3  have to be filed.

          4                 Again, also saying that that would

          5  then have to be put before a Family Court Judge, to

          6  ensure that we did in fact present the evidence that

          7  was sufficient for that charge.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, isn't

          9  it true that you just did lose that appeal, because

         10  the cases were not brought before a family judge,

         11  the petition hadn't been filed and the children were

         12  removed?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         14  I am sorry, I am not familiar --

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That is the

         16  case.

         17                 Let me just go back to the basic

         18  statistics because I think that was interesting.

         19                 You said there are now 46,000

         20  children in foster care?

         21                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

         22  Thirty-six.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thirty-six

         24  thousand. It is down from 43,000?

         25                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:
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          2  Correct.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But

          4  fatalities have increased, child fatalities have

          5  increased, right?

          6                 What are the numbers for child

          7  fatalities?

          8                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I do

          9  not have the numbers with me on child fatalities.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But there

         11  has been an increase in child fatalities. It is hard

         12  to say that --

         13                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: If I

         14  may finish? The numbers fluctuate from year-to-year

         15  and I believe our agency did issue statements

         16  concerning our response to the numbers on

         17  fatalities.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I am not

         19  challenging the agency's incredibly difficult

         20  mission to protect children's lives. We are not

         21  challenging that.

         22                 What we are challenging is what some

         23  of us are led to believe that there have been

         24  unnecessarily removals of many children from homes

         25  with increased trauma to them, and that is what we
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          2  have really been trying to discuss today.

          3                 So, what it comes down to, it is

          4  really the category I guess of the failure to

          5  protect area. How many children of the 36,000 in

          6  foster care have been removed because of the charges

          7  of Failure To Protect?

          8                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I do

          9  not have information on that particular --

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Why?

         11                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We do

         12  not collect information on failure to protect in and

         13  by itself. As I said, child abuse cases are very

         14  complex cases, often involving multi-allegations of

         15  different abuse and neglect issues.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: If we are

         17  saying that there are children who are removed from

         18  the home because there is a presence of domestic

         19  violence, then I think that everybody agrees that

         20  there is a connection between domestic violence and

         21  child abuse, or between child abuse and domestic

         22  violence. And there is always that balance, but

         23  whose fault is it and why is the child removed? That

         24  is a very important question to us and your agency

         25  does not keep a separate record of how many children
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          2  have been removed from homes because of domestic

          3  violence, you don't have a separate record?

          4                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

          5  recognize that this is a very important issue to

          6  keep track of. Through our pilot in Zone A we have

          7  created a tracking system to actually analyze every

          8  case that comes into that pilot with domestic

          9  violence allegations to see what happened, whether

         10  children are removed, and if so, why and if there is

         11  an Article 10 petition filed, who was it filed

         12  against, and we are keeping track.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That's Zone A.

         14                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: How many cases

         16  are there in Zone A?

         17                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Zone

         18  A is a half of the Manhattan field office.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So how many

         20  children are in foster care cases in Zone A, have

         21  been removed from homes in Zone A?

         22                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Let

         23  me give you an example of what we have so far and it

         24  is very preliminary at this time.

         25                 Of the 90 cases that went through the
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          2  pilot since it began on July 1st, about --

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: July 1st,

          4  '99?

          5                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: 1999.

          6  Only two children were removed from families on both

          7  cases.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But that is

          9  the Zone A where you also have the domestic violence

         10  counselors where you have the integrated system with

         11  domestic violence advocates.

         12                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: And

         13  we hope to replicate, as this violence goes on, and

         14  ensure that ACS' strategy incorporates all of these

         15  elements as we move forward.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Our question

         17  is not to question what is happening in Zone A. I

         18  think we all agree that that is the kind of effort

         19  that should be made Citywide, the question is why

         20  hasn't that been made Citywide, and why isn't that a

         21  critical part of ACS' strategy.

         22                 We talk about all of these wonderful

         23  programs you have, and thank God for the Urban

         24  Justice Center because they seem to be the people

         25  doing all of this work, but I would like to ask you,
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          2  they are operating, what is the total budget for

          3  ACS?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          5  $2.1 billion I think. $2.1 billion.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: $2.1

          7  billion. The Urban Justice Center has a grant for

          8  $200,000?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         10  $200,000, which has been extended to -- well, we

         11  will see what happens when --

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And there is

         13  an RFP out for $600,000? Is that $600,000 per year

         14  or over three years?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         16  Over three years.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So we have a

         18  total of $800,000 being spent out of a budget of how

         19  much?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         21  $2.1 billion.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: $2.1 billion

         23  where you are pointing to us as the activity of the

         24  agency, and the point of our discussions is this

         25  should not be $800,000 out of a $2.1 billion budget,
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          2  it would have to be a policy that is instituted now.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          4  I think that when we look at there has been an

          5  increase in our ACS budget for preventive services,

          6  what we have actually done in the last RFP that we

          7  have started to be working on as we are moving

          8  towards neighborhood-based services is created a

          9  model budget for our preventive agencies.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And what is

         11  the budget for your preventive services?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         13  Actually what the budget does now is kind of --

         14  traditionally budgets have been based on what people

         15  have gotten in the past, since you had agencies that

         16  had very high budgets and ones that had very low, so

         17  right now we have tried to create some equity in

         18  that, so that anyone could be able to give us the

         19  services that we need, which domestic violence, how

         20  you do your assessment, how you do your initial

         21  consultations and services that you have available

         22  --

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: What we are

         24  saying is domestic violence is an integral part of

         25  your services.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          3  Right.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: If you find

          5  70 to 80 percent of the child fatalities experienced

          6  whatever that percentage is of domestic violence in

          7  those cases, and then if you look at it the other

          8  way, the high percentage of domestic violence,

          9  whatever it is, that follows, you can't afford to

         10  even call this preventative. This is an essential

         11  part, because we are talking about violence in a

         12  home.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         14  And I guess what I was saying is that preventive

         15  services are all inclusive of whatever problems that

         16  comes to --

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Preventative

         18  services we feel are not inclusive. The mission of

         19  your agency has been to find to protect the welfare

         20  of a child, and that is a very reasonable. But

         21  protecting the welfare of a child by placing a child

         22  in foster care, traumatizing that child further is,

         23  in some of our opinions, unnecessary,

         24  overprecaution, and done without truly looking at

         25  the causes and it is not doing anything to help the
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          2  problem.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          4  Councilwoman, I think that one of the cornerstones

          5  of this reform that this agency has been engaged in

          6  over the past three years has been the

          7  implementation of neighborhood-based services.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Right.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         10  And the premise of neighborhood-based services is to

         11  engage communities, to make sure that our foster

         12  care and preventive agencies are now being assigned

         13  by community districts, so that you are able to get

         14  to know those residents, to get to know the services

         15  there, and you would hope that the effects of that,

         16  as you bring in other city agencies, would be to

         17  improve the community development of that agency and

         18  strengthen children and families, and to hopefully

         19  prevent children for having to come into care in the

         20  first place.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We are

         22  trying on all fronts to prevent domestic violence,

         23  but we are not being too successful if the Police

         24  Department testifies that there is a minimum 26,000

         25  assault cases in the courts right now with domestic
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          2  violence.

          3                 The question that I have asked

          4  repeatedly is, of those 26,000 assault cases, now

          5  let's talk about those, how many of those cases have

          6  involved removal of children from the families? Can

          7  you tell me that?

          8                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: No.

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE:  No, because

         10  you don't keep records that way.

         11                 What you are now telling me is that

         12  in your decentralizing the operation, have the Bronx

         13  programs been funded?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         15  I think the contracts are in the process of being

         16  signed.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how many

         18  years have you been working on these contracts?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         20  Well, the interesting thing about this is that we

         21  have already begun work with our Bronx agencies. We

         22  have already started to have several meetings in

         23  communities where they have been assigned to. We are

         24  actually planning a conference for 600 providers

         25  from the Bronx on November 15th and our domestic
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          2  violence advocates have been invited to help us in

          3  the planning of that, and I use the domestic

          4  violence as one example of people who we think are

          5  very critical to be parts of these networks --

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I don't

          7  think you are understanding what we are saying. It

          8  is the removal of children --

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         10  Yes.

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And you

         12  cannot give us the number of children that have been

         13  removed because of the presence of domestic violence

         14  in a household. We are not talking about

         15  preventative services now, we are not talking about

         16  telling women it is bad to be abused and we are not

         17  talking about being independent, we are not talking

         18  about any of these things. We are talking now about

         19  the removal of these children from these homes.

         20                 Do you have the Urban Justice Center

         21  protocol in the Bronx? Is that part of your Bronx

         22  program?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         24  The Urban Justice Protocol is used by, I guess about

         25  40 programs, out of the 120 preventive agencies, and
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          2  it is going to be expanded to 50 in March.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how many

          4  of the programs in the Bronx? What Urban Justice

          5  presence is in the Bronx?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          7  I will try to find out those exact names for you.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But that is

          9  not a foreign presence, that is training of our

         10  caseworkers, that is a domestic violence specialist

         11  in the office, that is a whole coordinated team

         12  effort.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         14  And I want to say to you that I don't think that

         15  preventive services is not related because I think

         16  the point is that preventive services, that when a

         17  caseworker goes in and assesses that imminent danger

         18  is not present and thinks that they can put services

         19  into place, that that is the time when it is

         20  appropriate to work with the family to figure out

         21  what those services might be.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, you

         23  know, what has been reported is that families are

         24  more and more loathe to report domestic violence

         25  incidences to police, because this is what we
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          2  understand happens. The call is made to 911 or to a

          3  hot line. A police officer goes to a home. If a

          4  domestic violence incidence report is filed, that

          5  copy of that domestic violence incidence report is

          6  recorded on the child abuse hot line. The child

          7  abuse hot line then notifies ACS; is this the way it

          8  is going? Is anybody able to tell me if I am right

          9  in my understanding?

         10                 ACS sends out a caseworker, that

         11  caseworker may be in Zone 1, that caseworker may

         12  have been trained about domestic violence, that

         13  caseworker may not have been. You said there were

         14  1,522 caseworkers that have been trained, how many

         15  caseworkers are there all together?

         16                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I can

         17  tell you in the Division of Child Protection it is

         18  around that number. And the training that I have

         19  referred to is for new workers that usually come

         20  into ACS for protective services.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So every ACS

         22  worker has now been trained in domestic violence

         23  cases?

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I can

         25  tell you that every new worker that came into ACS
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          2  since the new training program was implemented has

          3  been trained.

          4                 One of the things that we have done

          5  is to move up the training, two-day training on the

          6  domestic violence into our core curriculum. That

          7  means every new worker that comes in --

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And what

          9  about every old worker? How many old workers are

         10  there?

         11                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I

         12  don't have all of the numbers in front of me, and if

         13  you like we can give you --

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: About how

         15  many old workers are there though? Give me a general

         16  number.

         17                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: What

         18  we have, about 8,000 employees in ACS. If you can

         19  excuse me for a minute?

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Sure.

         21                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: And

         22  as I said, I don't have the numbers, exact numbers,

         23  and I don't want to give you numbers about --

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Would they

         25  be 7,000?
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          2                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: No, I

          3  think it would be less than that. Less than --

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But the

          5  1,522 is not nearly the whole force of caseworkers?

          6                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Not

          7  the whole force.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And

          9  supervisors, have supervisors been trained?

         10                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: If I

         11  can describe the training, some of the training

         12  initiatives that we have. This training is for new

         13  workers when they first come into the academy, it is

         14  a two-day training. We have various initiatives

         15  going on to address training for our staff. The

         16  staff who are already in -- who are old workers

         17  there.

         18                 For instance, we have a program

         19  through Fordham University, who have been providing

         20  training, extensive training for ten days for our

         21  caseworkers on domestic violence mental health and

         22  substance abuse.

         23                 This program is a ten-day program,

         24  for instance, that we are offering to staff and

         25  child protective services, and about 120 caseworkers
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          2  and supervisors and managers have gone through that.

          3                 We have various in-service training

          4  that is offered. One of them is to train all of our

          5  protective staff on child protective issues and

          6  investigations, and that this program also focuses

          7  on the quality case practice which we have

          8  incorporated into our screening every case for

          9  domestic violence.

         10                 We have an MSW scholarship program

         11  which offers hundreds of scholarships every year to

         12  ACS staff, throughout the social work schools in New

         13  York City and we have like about 200 going through

         14  that every year. So, I can tell you that we have

         15  various initiatives going on to train and

         16  professionalize our staff. I don't have total

         17  members in terms of who received what, but there is

         18  an intensive effort going on trying to ensure that

         19  our staff are receiving all the available training

         20  that we can.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We have

         22  heard testimony today from many of the advocacy

         23  groups that assist victims who have testified that

         24  when they have been visited by an ACS worker, the

         25  ACS worker says, yes, I think your plan is
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          2  satisfactory, I think your children are safe, only

          3  to have that caseworker reappear either several

          4  minutes later or several hours later or several days

          5  later to say, I am sorry, we are taking the children

          6  because the supervisor says we have to.

          7                 So, have the supervisors all been

          8  trained?

          9                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: There

         10  was a two-day training at the Satterwhite Academy,

         11  prior to incorporation in the core curriculum, on

         12  domestic violence, and we have many of our

         13  supervisors who went through that training

         14  previously as well. So, I can't speak about

         15  individual caseworkers and supervisors, I can tell

         16  you that there is an extensive effort on the part of

         17  the agency to provide the training to the staff and

         18  we will continue to do that, as much as we can.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Do the

         20  instant response teams -- who is a member of the

         21  instant response teams?

         22                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: ACS

         23  child protective staff, NYPD and the district

         24  attorneys.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And is there
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          2  a domestic violence person on each of these instant

          3  response teams?

          4                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: No, a

          5  domestic violence specialist is involved now in the

          6  instant response coordinated effort that we are

          7  trying to --

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: What do you

          9  mean the domestic violence specialist?

         10                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Under

         11  the instant response protocol, we have committed to

         12  work together with NYPD and the DAs to create a

         13  response for domestic violence, a specialized

         14  response for domestic violence cases and that is

         15  where the Zone A pilot comes in.

         16                 We wanted to make sure that on the

         17  domestic violence cases that were intervening

         18  appropriately and that the domestic violence

         19  specialist, who is the coordinator in that case, is

         20  consulted and is the person who is really

         21  coordinating the team.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But who is

         23  the domestic violence specialist?

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

         25  have the Manhattan --
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: In the Zone

          3  1.

          4                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

          5  Right, exactly.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, what we

          7  are saying is there should be a domestic violence

          8  specialist in every zone, and that an instant

          9  response team should have a domestic violence

         10  specialist on it. Now what is it going to take to do

         11  that in the City?

         12                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

         13  are waiting for the results of the pilot and we hope

         14  through that we are able to, as I said, guide our

         15  policy in terms of implementation Citywide.

         16                 So far, as I said this has been the

         17  approach that is implementing in Zone A, seems to be

         18  successful and we are hoping through that we will be

         19  able to get the results and we need to inform our

         20  policy in the future as to how instant response

         21  teams are going to operate on domestic violence

         22  cases.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: See, this is

         24  where we are going round and round in circles.

         25                 It is a $2.1 billion agency, where
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          2  you have had an Urban Justice Center Pilot Program

          3  for $200,000. It has been proven successful, because

          4  obviously you are talking a lot about it today. Why

          5  hasn't it been expanded to every zone in the City?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          7  I think one of the issues that is very important is

          8  that we are going to be working along with the Urban

          9  Justice Center probably in the next couple of months

         10  to develop a strategic plan about where we are now

         11  three years into ACS and what we need to do moving

         12  forward.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Their

         14  contract expires in December, are you renewing it?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         16  We have an RFP that is going to be released and it

         17  is due November 17th, and I suppose that they are

         18  going to be --

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: It is going

         20  to be due back when?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         22  It is due back November 17th.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And when is

         24  the contract for the Bronx due back? The community

         25  project, when were those contracts due back?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          3  Those were done already.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes, but the

          5  contracts --

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          7  The contracts have not been signed.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Exactly.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         10  Right.

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Therefore,

         12  if you have not issued the RFP, how are you going to

         13  continue, for the Urban Justice Center, how are you

         14  going to continue the contract in December?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         16  The strategic planning that I am referring to, we

         17  think that that meeting is going to happen before

         18  the end of the year. We are engaged in strategic

         19  planning and going to work with them in order to

         20  determine with the Commissioner and the Deputy

         21  Commissioners how we need to be moving forward, that

         22  is not something that I think a meeting that has to

         23  happen in January, I think that is a meeting that is

         24  going to happen quickly.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But the
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          2  basic question was, you are not even going to renew

          3  this contract? Is it a year contract or a three-year

          4  contract, or what is this RFP for the Urban Justice

          5  Center?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          7  The RFP is not for the Urban Justice Center. The RFP

          8  is for --

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I understand

         10  that.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         12  It is for training.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We had that

         14  problem before, didn't we? The Urban Justice Center

         15  previously did work for the agency, and then their

         16  work was stopped, then they had to not keep they had

         17  hired because you had to issue an RFP. You issued an

         18  RFP, we went through a process, they were finally

         19  awarded the RFP. Now they are going to go through

         20  the whole same process again. We are going to have

         21  to have the project come to an end, people who work

         22  in the project aren't going to get paid because

         23  there isn't going to be a contract and you are going

         24  to issue another RFP.

         25                 Why, if the Urban Justice Center is
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          2  so good, aren't you issuing an RFP for more years?

          3  Why don't you provide for the continuity and why

          4  haven't you taken their work and expanded it to

          5  every zone in the City. That is the question we are

          6  asking.

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: If I

          8  may ask --

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And if you

         10  would like to come back to us at another time and

         11  give answers, we would be very happy to hear it, but

         12  that is our goal.

         13                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Let

         14  me just answer the expansion piece and then I will

         15  turn it back to Anne.

         16                 When we first started the pilot, I

         17  think we were cautioned to really proceed   very

         18  carefully and not to rush into implementation

         19  Citywide.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Cautioned by

         21  whom?

         22                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: For

         23  the people that were involved in the planning,

         24  including the Urban Justice Center, our own domestic

         25  violence coordinator and people who were on the
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          2  steering committee, so that we can really be

          3  thoughtful about how to proceed with the Citywide

          4  strategy addressing domestic violence through the

          5  instance response protocol. And we heeded that

          6  advice and we wanted to make sure that whatever we

          7  do, we test before we proceed, we are awaiting the

          8  evaluation, the pilot has been only in effect since

          9  July 1st, and will be hopefully evaluated by the end

         10  of the year and that will help us to move on a real

         11  --

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I still

         13  don't understand. You are waiting to now get a

         14  comprehensive report from the Zone A project; is

         15  that what you are saying?

         16                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

         17  Correct.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Except your

         19  testimony is filled with praise of the Zone A and

         20  the fact that you are expanding it.

         21                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

         22  are monitoring --

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So we are

         24  waiting until the end of the year, we are going to

         25  have a report; is that what you are saying? Upon
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          2  that report, and if that is a favorable report you

          3  are going to expand to do the whole City?

          4                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: That

          5  is our plan.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          7  Councilwoman, I want to point out that the RFP that

          8  is out is for training, development and planning,

          9  not for DV services per se in the way that you were

         10  referring to it. Obviously domestic violence affects

         11  every aspect of ACS, and so the work that we want to

         12  -- we are working with UJJ now to try to go forward

         13  and figure out strategic plans for our division of

         14  permanency for people in adoption for every aspect

         15  of the agency not just a zone --

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, we are

         17  discussing today specifically, our issue today is

         18  specifically domestic violence and the whole

         19  category of whatever we call it, failure to protect,

         20  and the number of children who are taken from homes

         21  because of domestic violence in those homes. That is

         22  what I am talking about today.

         23                 You have come back to us with the

         24  success of progress in Zone A with the importance of

         25  the domestic violence presence on instant response
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          2  team, but you don't have it, and you can't give us a

          3  number of figures. I mean, we may only be talking

          4  about four children, but you don't know because you

          5  don't keep track of it. So what we want to know is

          6  how many children are removed from homes because of

          7  the failure to protect, number one.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          9  Yes.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And number

         11  two, under that category of failure to protect is

         12  that because there is a domestic violence presence

         13  in those homes, all right? Do you have that

         14  question?

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

         16  have it.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: All right.

         18                 And then, because there has been

         19  success in Zone A, and you had only what, two or

         20  four children removed because of domestic violence,

         21  we want to know --

         22                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: And I

         23  am sorry, it is two children on the project, not

         24  necessarily because of domestic violence.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: All right,
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          2  but only two children.

          3                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

          4  Right.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: What was it

          6  before?

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

          8  Again, we don't have comparison data.

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Why don't

         10  you have the comparison data?

         11                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

         12  will through the pilot trying to compare those that

         13  go through the pilot versus not. I don't have --

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But you have

         15  the number, you say there are two.

         16                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

         17  Right.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: What was it

         19  five years ago?

         20                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: There

         21  were two in the group that went through this

         22  particular project. I can't give you a comparison in

         23  terms of, because we don't have information --

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But did you

         25  have a Zone A five years ago?
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          2                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

          3  do, but this is not the entire zone A.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Can't you

          5  tell us how many children were placed in foster care

          6  in Zone A five years ago?

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

          8  can.

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Would you do

         10  that?

         11                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

         12  will --

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Because some

         14  of us less schooled in the schools of research would

         15  say if there were 40 children removed five years ago

         16  and two children now, the chances are there is

         17  something good about the new program.

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

         19  Right. However, it will not tell you whether the

         20  cases involved domestic violence or not. But it

         21  would tell you generally how many children were --

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You can't

         23  tell us.

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

         25  Right.
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We hope in

          3  the future that you will be able to tell us.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          5  I wanted to just address your concern about a gap in

          6  services, and I wanted --

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: About what?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          9  Gap in services. If the contract ends in December,

         10  it is my understanding that the contract goes

         11  through the spring, and I think that is why we were

         12  anxious to make sure that the RFP was out, that it

         13  is due back in in November so that we can evaluate

         14  it so that there will be no gap in services.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how many

         16  years is the RFP for?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         18  Three years.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Three years?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         21  Yes.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Because the

         23  pilot program for the Urban Justice Center was for

         24  how long, the one that is expiring?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:
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          2  One year.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So that is

          4  an improvement, right?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          6  And I guess those funds have also been baselined,

          7  which is definitely an improvement.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Let's go

          9  back to my original question.

         10                 The ACS worker is now visiting a home

         11  because the police reported a domestic violence

         12  incident and it was reported to the hot line, right?

         13  Is that right? Is that how it happens?

         14                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: In

         15  some cases where the police reports the incident,

         16  yes.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Can you tell

         18  us how many visits were made because of domestic

         19  incident reports filed by the police with the state?

         20                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: No, I

         21  can't.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Do you track

         23  it?

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: The

         25  state tracks allegations of domestic violence on
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          2  cases and that information may be available through

          3  them.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Can you find

          5  out for us? Because the police can't tell us. The

          6  police can tell us the number of domestic violence

          7  incidence reports. I forget that number, it is

          8  somewhere in 200 and some odd incidence reports

          9  filed, 200,000 incidence reports. We were told that

         10  if there was a child who saw the violence in the

         11  home, the police report that to the State hot line.

         12  If the violence occurred in the presence of a child,

         13  that incidence is reported to the State hot line.

         14  That means then, this is the child abuse hot line,

         15  that means then that the hot line must contact ACS

         16  to send out a caseworker.

         17                 We would like to know how many times,

         18  how many caseworkers, I mean how many of those

         19  notices you got?

         20                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

         21  will try to get you that information.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: The

         23  caseworker then visits the home, and in some cases

         24  the caseworker feels the children or child will be

         25  safe and leaves and then has to file a report with
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          2  the supervisor; is that how it works? Or discuss it

          3  with a supervisor?

          4                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: They

          5  have to discuss it with a supervisor.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And if they

          7  are responding to a call from the child abuse hot

          8  line, how quickly do they have to respond?

          9                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: They

         10  have to make a contact within 24 hours, and ACS also

         11  mandates that they try to make a home visit within

         12  48 hours.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So then you

         14  have got 48 hours. Then where does the caseworker go

         15  with the observations made in that visit? To the

         16  assistant response team?

         17                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: The

         18  caseworker goes back to her supervisor or his

         19  supervisor on that.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And then

         21  that becomes a decision by the supervisor based on

         22  the report of the caseworker?

         23                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: The

         24  supervisor and sometimes also in high risk

         25  situations we have a child protective manager who
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          2  reviews the decision. In some cases we also consult

          3  with our legal on cases.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And do you

          5  consult with a domestic violence specialist?

          6                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: In

          7  domestic violence, where a domestic violence

          8  specialist is present, I believe that now they are

          9  --

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But they are

         11  not present all the time. So, this is what is

         12  happening. This is the way it is happening. And that

         13  is why the children are getting removed from the

         14  home.

         15                 We have heard testimony today that

         16  caseworkers have said this is fine, but then have

         17  been overruled by the supervisor. And in some cases

         18  we don't know who made the decision.

         19                 But if there isn't a domestic

         20  violence consultation on it, that is where the

         21  problem happens. So, the only domestic violence

         22  specialist we have now operating in Zone A, 1

         23  whatever --

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: In

         25  Zone A.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          3  The domestic violence specialist in Zone A but I

          4  think that you shouldn't discount the training that

          5  has been now incorporated.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I think we

          7  have to discount the training. We really do. We do.

          8  We obviously have to. We can't answer any of these

          9  questions, though, until we know even how many of

         10  the cases of the failure to protect have been due to

         11  domestic violence charges.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         13  But to assume that a supervisor, because she is not

         14  a domestic violence specialist, cannot understand

         15  domestic violence issues, know about them, have a

         16  history, know the resources, I think is not true.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, if you

         18  think that that person is so able to make that

         19  decision then why are we bothering with domestic

         20  violence specialists?

         21                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

         22  believe that additional support is always helpful

         23  and we also believe that upgrading the training and

         24  the skills of all of our staff is the way to go.

         25                 As I stated earlier, the prevalence
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          2  of domestic violence and overlap with child abuse

          3  cannot be addressed in every case by having an

          4  additional person. I think we need to look at every

          5  caseworker and every supervisor and make sure that

          6  they are equipped and able to respond to these

          7  situations.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, we are

          9  at a loss because we only have the anecdotal

         10  information, the experiences that the advocates and

         11  the different groups that are working with battered

         12  women have, as to how many children have actually

         13  been removed from homes, because we are not

         14  compiling the statements.

         15                 Now, the Police Department has

         16  assigned two domestic violence specialists every

         17  precinct. They are now updating their computer

         18  system with a $2 million, they got a $2 million

         19  grant just for the computer system. You are the guys

         20  who deal with the children and you are spending

         21  $800,000 total, so it is already hard.

         22                 The DA's have separate offices now

         23  for domestic violence cases, the courts are being

         24  organized with domestic violence courts or special

         25  sections of the courts, but you are the agency that
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          2  is really handling the children and the families and

          3  having the increase trauma of not only the violence

          4  in the home but removing children from the home, and

          5  you guys don't even track the cases separately. And

          6  that is all we are trying to say. I don't even think

          7  you can defend it. I really don't. And I don't think

          8  it is fair to even ask you, you are doing a very

          9  good job for your agency and all of these notes that

         10  are getting passed around and everybody that is

         11  helping you is fine, and I don't want to put you on

         12  the spot. But I am simply saying your agency is not,

         13  you are not following the evidence that you have,

         14  even with your child fatality review, these are

         15  subjects that are intimately involved. And not to

         16  even begin to discuss some of the things -- I mean,

         17  foster care is not -- what is the name of -- I mean,

         18  it is not the end of the rainbow, foster care is a

         19  trauma to everybody concerned, so you are not

         20  necessarily helping children by putting them in

         21  foster care.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         23  I would agree with you.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I just think

         25  you have got to come back with us, or try to get for
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          2  us the number of children that are taken out, a

          3  better justification of why there isn't a domestic

          4  violence specialist in every zone, and a reason why

          5  there isn't a domestic violence specialist on the

          6  response teams, the instance response teams.

          7                 I am going to come back, but I think

          8  my colleague has some questions.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am just

         10  curious to know, do you have conducted a cost

         11  estimate about how much money the agency will save

         12  if less children are removed, if based on removing

         13  the children for real causes, how much money will be

         14  saved if the cuts to remove children are really the

         15  way to go and no mistake was made that later on to

         16  find out it never should have happened?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         18  I don't know if a cost analysis has been made in the

         19  way that you describe it, but I think what you are

         20  saying is do we realize that preventive services

         21  when appropriate and when necessary are always

         22  preferred over placing children in care. I think

         23  that we do recognize that because preventive

         24  services has been increased. And I also think the

         25  whole move towards neighborhood-based services
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          2  realizes that essence, that if you are able to keep

          3  children safely in their home there would be no

          4  reason to remove them and we want to be able to work

          5  with communities and other services in the

          6  residents' end or other service providers to be able

          7  to make stronger families and to make stronger

          8  communities so that children can remain at home when

          9  that is appropriate.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand

         11  that you have the philosophy very clear, I commend

         12  you for that. I am not asking about the philosophy

         13  now, I am asking about if your agency, to your

         14  knowledge, if you are aware of any study that has

         15  been done in order to look at the question of the

         16  cost estimates that can be put in place, look at how

         17  much money can be saved or how much money we are

         18  throwing away every time that this is done with our

         19  appropriate system in place.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         21  I don't know of any study that has been done, do

         22  you?

         23                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: No.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         25  N, we don't know of any particularly study that has
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          2  been done on that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Let me tell you

          4  why I am asking that question.

          5                 I was here yesterday.

          6                 Councilwoman Eldridge, yesterday was

          7  the hearing, right?

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Wednesday.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am sorry. I

         10  am in lala land, don't know which day of the week it

         11  was.

         12                 On Wednesday the testimony was

         13  provided to us about the type of program that is

         14  going to be implemented Citywide, is my

         15  understanding, and that this pilot program that is

         16  going to implement it now Citywide is going to try

         17  to leave the children in the houses with people

         18  where they live, and to make sure that when domestic

         19  violence occurred, instead of removing the family

         20  out of the home, the children out of the home, they

         21  are going to try to leave them in there, in their

         22  own environment, nothing removed from there, and

         23  make sure that they -- I am talking in Spanish here

         24  because I am thinking about the perpetrator and I

         25  was thinking in Spanish, I was thinking (in
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          2  Spanish), the person who abused the children and the

          3  wife be taken care of instead of disrupting the

          4  family members and the children and they spoke about

          5  this problem on Wednesday and they said they are

          6  ready to implement this program then.

          7                 The reason I ask you the question is,

          8  I don't see how an agency in the responsible manner

          9  will implement such a program with our statistical

         10  information that tells us how much money costs, how

         11  much money is saved, and I bet there is a study

         12  done, and I bet that exists, and I know that it is

         13  in your agency and somebody has this information.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         15  Do you know what program that was?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The person that

         17  testified was the woman of the Police Department

         18  Unit.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Lucia

         20  Raiford.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: They spoke very

         22  eloquently about this program that is going to be

         23  implemented any day, any day now, it is coming. Then

         24  if it is coming, and I assume that the money is

         25  allocated and I assume that everybody is happy and
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          2  dandy, willing to go and put this in place, somebody

          3  put information together to put this program

          4  together because this cannot pass through this

          5  Council or through any legislative lead body without

          6  having estimates being put together for this.

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: And I

          8  think that reminds me of several years ago of having

          9  seen estimates of how much it cost for a child to be

         10  in foster care versus providing preventive services

         11  in the home. And you are right, the difference is

         12  quite, you know, large in terms of the cost. It

         13  costs much less for a child being provided

         14  preventive services in the home rather than foster

         15  care.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You are aware

         17  of this program that I talked to you about now?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS: No,

         19  I am not quite sure which program you are talking

         20  about. Is it a program that is supposed to be

         21  administered by ACS or by --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No, it is a

         23  program that has been put together by the DA's

         24  office, by the Police Department, and is pretty big

         25  and it began operating in Brooklyn with the DA's of
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          2  Brooklyn, trying to resolve the issues of the manner

          3  in which families are abused twice and three times

          4  and four times after they are abused by the

          5  perpetrator, the system goes out and abuses them

          6  more.

          7                 If you are not familiarized with it,

          8  I think that you should. I think that you really

          9  should find out as much as you can about this

         10  program because it is fascinating, it seems to me,

         11  that it is going to dismantle in a big way the adult

         12  -- what is the name? I am sorry. From where the

         13  children are taken, the homes - the foster care

         14  system. The children are going to be in their homes

         15  with their mothers, or whoever is going to remain

         16  with the child, and that means that the foster care

         17  system is not going to be in place the same way it

         18  was, and I imagine that you are going to economize

         19  some money, and you had to close some places, and it

         20  would be important for you to know about this

         21  problem.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Thank

         24  you.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I have a few

          4  more questions.

          5                 There used to be a domestic violence

          6  protocol, do you still use that?

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We do

          8  have a domestic violence protocol. As I said

          9  earlier, we incorporated domestic violence screening

         10  in all of our as part of our investigation through

         11  our --

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Do you use

         13  the form for the domestic violence protocol?

         14                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We do

         15  use the form for a domestic violence protocol.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Because some

         17  of the people have testified that they have not seen

         18  those forms, in a lot of cases they have been

         19  involved in the courts. Would you check to see if

         20  that form is still filled out? And could you send us

         21  a copy of that form?

         22                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Yes.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: The Board of

         24  Estimate evidently several years ago passed a

         25  resolution saying that foster care placements should
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          2  occur in the same borough, is that something that

          3  ACS still follows?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          5  Do you mean that when a child is removed, when

          6  possible to be able --

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          9  Yes, I think that is one of the key components of

         10  our neighborhood-based services. What we are asking

         11  now of our foster care agencies is to recruit in the

         12  neighborhoods that we have assigned them to.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But it

         14  hasn't been consistent, it is going back again.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         16  Some of the problem has been because of maybe you

         17  have a group of siblings, five siblings and maybe

         18  there is not an appropriate placement for them in

         19  the Bronx, you would have to place them in Brooklyn,

         20  but now we are really trying to focus on assigning

         21  agencies to neighborhoods and making sure they are

         22  working with community members to recruit the

         23  appropriate houses so we will be able to place

         24  children in those neighborhoods.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I think we
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          2  will ask this question in the MMR hearing, but how

          3  long does it take to process an application for the

          4  rent subsidy program for women who want it for

          5  people trying to get their children out of foster

          6  care, how long does that take now?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          8  Are you talking about the Housing Subsidy Program?

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         11  I am not sure.

         12                 Does anybody know how long the

         13  application process is?

         14                 I will find that out for you. I am

         15  not sure how long the actual application --

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We have

         17  heard of a child that was removed from a home

         18  because of domestic violence and it took months to

         19  just even process the form for the subsidy, because

         20  once the child is removed because of the domestic

         21  violence, then that whole decision is questionable

         22  in some of our minds, the woman then has to, and the

         23  woman decides to move because it was a house she was

         24  stabbed in or she didn't want to live there anymore,

         25  she has to move and before she can get her child out
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          2  of foster care she has to have the apartment and it

          3  takes a long time to get the rent subsidy.

          4                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: There

          5  is work going on to streamline the housing subsidy

          6  program at ACS right now.

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          8  Yes, they are in the process of trying to revamp it.

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: The ACS

         10  cases, when the question failure to protect and it's

         11  domestic violence, it is still the woman's failure

         12  to protect, the case file is still in the mother's

         13  name, even though the batterer has started this

         14  whole episode.

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

         16  file cases against the people who have committed or

         17  perpetrated or by either act of commission or --

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That is the

         19  problem with removing children because of domestic

         20  violence. If an ACS worker goes to a home as a

         21  result of the Police Department filing and notifying

         22  the hot line that a domestic violence incidence was

         23  reported, that a child was present in the home, that

         24  therefore that is reported to the state child abuse

         25  hot line, the ACS worker goes to the home, the case
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          2  is in the woman's name and it is her failure to

          3  comply to protect the child when the whole case is

          4  triggered by the batterer's actions.

          5                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I

          6  have seen cases in which the report was called in

          7  against the batterer and the mother did not have a

          8  role. I was looking at some cases recently and in

          9  such a situation that you just described where the

         10  batterer is the person who is perpetrating the

         11  violence in the home against the child, the mother

         12  was listed as having no role in the case and that is

         13  the language that is used by the hot line basically

         14  to describe that it is the perpetrator who is

         15  responsible for --

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But the

         17  child was removed from the home because of the

         18  failure to protect.

         19                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

         20  Again, I can't comment on which case you are talking

         21  about.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, I am

         23  talking about a lot of cases. So, that is why we

         24  would like to be able to separate, so maybe when an

         25  ACS worker is required to go to a home because the
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          2  domestic violence incident report was filed by the

          3  police because there was a child in the home at the

          4  time of the violence, maybe that case should never

          5  be filed with the woman's name, it should always be

          6  in the man's name and then there wouldn't be any

          7  grounds of failure to protect against the woman and

          8  there wouldn't be the removal from her originally.

          9  That is what is so crazy about this whole system.

         10                 But you don't even have the cases

         11  identified by who was removed because of what,

         12  right?

         13                 Do you understand what we are trying

         14  to say?

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I

         16  think I hear what you are saying. There are a lot of

         17  elements in your statement and there is the name of

         18  the women who is in the household, everyone who is

         19  in the household actually goes on the report, and

         20  the new system actually describes what role does

         21  that person have. If that person has no role in the

         22  abuse or the neglect of the child, then they are

         23  listed but they are not listed as having perpetrated

         24  the action.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Then there
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          2  is no reason to take the child from the mother.

          3                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: This

          4  is why I am saying the second part of this question

          5  is that it is based on an assessment of the child

          6  who actually is the person responsible. It is not

          7  automatic just because you have a case that is

          8  coming in in your name that that would lead

          9  necessarily to charges against you.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I understand

         11  what you said, the basic underlying finding would be

         12  failure to protect and it had to be against the

         13  mother, if you are going to take the child from the

         14  mother, unless you provided the mother and the child

         15  with a suitable alternate space, if you are just

         16  talking about the physical space of the child.

         17                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: As I

         18  said, it is not a simple decision. It is not like we

         19  go in and say one, two, three you have this. It is

         20  something that has to be, all of the elements have

         21  to be considered, what is going on in that home, you

         22  know, what impact on the child, is there services

         23  that we can put in place, is there a plan that we

         24  can work with both the mother and the child, ensure

         25  their safety together.
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          2                 I don't think that is a decision that

          3  is made just based on an allegation that comes in

          4  from the state or from state hot line.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: No, but it

          6  is the allegation that comes in from the state that

          7  triggers the investigation, and if the

          8  investigation, and if the child is taken because of

          9  the failure to comply and except for the child is

         10  taken from the mother, unless you had an alternative

         11  to say, all right, we are going to take the mother

         12  and the children together away from the abuser --

         13  why isn't the abuser, number one, in jail? That is

         14  number one.

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

         16  Right.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But if the

         18  abuser is still there and you don't like the

         19  environment, then provide another environment.

         20                 Do you think you have enough shelter

         21  space for domestic violence victims and their

         22  families?

         23                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Let

         24  me first respond in terms of, the batterer is -- we

         25  are able to remove that batterer from the home, that
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          2  is the preferred way to do this, because we believe

          3  that keeping the mother and the children at home is

          4  the best possible alternative.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We have

          6  heard of cases where there hasn't even been a

          7  batterer in the house, and the child has been

          8  removed. We had a case in Brooklyn or Queens Legal

          9  Services where there was a baby, before the baby was

         10  born -- there was domestic violence before the baby

         11  was born. The father of the child left the home. The

         12  mother stayed, had the baby, brought the baby home

         13  and two days later the ACS worker came and took the

         14  baby away. Now, there was no father.

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I can

         16  tell you that --

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And if we

         18  hear all of these cases, and you are saying you have

         19  a question about them, assuming there is no other

         20  circumstance that we haven't been told, that your

         21  supervisory and your checks are not working in the

         22  agency.

         23                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: That

         24  is exactly my point. You know, sometimes we do hear

         25  --
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Then that

          3  has to be separated because there are terrible

          4  stories and there are an awful lot of them.

          5                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: There

          6  are stories and then sometimes when we do look into

          7  those stories, we find that there are other aspects

          8  to that story that we are not aware of.

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: These are

         10  cases that are in court, and I don't think that in

         11  the cases that we have heard -- I think we have

         12  heard pretty solid cases, and I know that you can't

         13  guarantee you are going to have adequate performance

         14  by 7,000 employees, I understand that and the

         15  difficulty that you have. I think there are

         16  increasingly too many employees that are giving us

         17  trouble and that has to also relate to the policies

         18  of the agency.

         19                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: And

         20  that is why we really want to train every employee

         21  and make sure that they know how to handle these

         22  cases. We want to provide them with every support

         23  that we have.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, that

         25  is why we want the domestic violence specialist to
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          2  be on the instant response teams and to be in every

          3  zone and to be in every field office, whatever the

          4  thing is, all right?

          5                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I

          6  heard you.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Now, I have

          8  some more questions for you and then we are going to

          9  end this. I am sorry it is going so long.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The Chair of

         11  the Committee asked you a question but she is asking

         12  you a lot of other ones and she didn't follow up on

         13  that one.

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I am on the

         15  shelters.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I was going

         18  to. But you can do it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I want to know

         20  how many, and my question is very clear, I don't

         21  want you to deviate around the planet, I am asking

         22  one question, how many shelter facilities you have

         23  and if you have enough for the people that you are

         24  serving now, and that is a very clear question.

         25  Don't go around the world now.
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          2                 Thank you. I am listening.

          3                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: ACS

          4  does not have shelters and I believe we are talking

          5  about what is within the capacity of ACS to provide.

          6  We do not have separate shelters.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We are not

          8  talking about that. We are talking about --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You are very

         10  smart because you did go around the world. Hats off

         11  for you, you did.

         12                 Let me change the question. Do you

         13  know if the Administration of this City currently

         14  has a shelter system that you need, your agency

         15  needs to provide services to those families who are

         16  in need of that? If those agencies that are in

         17  charge of that, that work with you and must work

         18  with you, have enough shelter facility to provide to

         19  those people that you have to serve?

         20                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I can

         21  tell you as I sit here I don't know the number of

         22  shelters that are available and whether they are

         23  enough or not.

         24                 I can reiterate that we are working

         25  with other City agencies. Our commission does meet
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          2  with those agencies to try to address the needs of

          3  families and children and through that we hope to be

          4  working with them and advocate for the services that

          5  our families would need.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, I am

          7  changing my question again. Let me ask you in this

          8  way.

          9                 The people that you serve, every time

         10  that they get to your office for the services that

         11  have to be provided, in the sense of people that you

         12  had to put in, those people, how many times do you

         13  encounter yourself without having a space to put

         14  them?

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I

         16  can't tell you how many times we encounter it. I can

         17  tell you that our staff tries very hard to find

         18  existing resources.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Why not? Why

         20  you cannot tell me? Because you don't accumulate the

         21  information?

         22                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: No,

         23  we don't.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you

         25  accumulate the information?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            205

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: No.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Why not? Why,

          4  if you have families that you have to locate, and

          5  relocate in a shelter, and you have your families,

          6  that is your job, you do that. You do that for

          7  children and families. Then if you do that, why does

          8  your agency not have information of how many of

          9  those beds they need?

         10                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I can

         11  tell you that we do utilize every available resource

         12  in the City when we are trying to assist our

         13  families.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You are not

         15  answering my question. Why you don't have that

         16  information? Why your agency do not accumulate or

         17  put that information together in order to then when

         18  the budget comes every year, we in the Council can

         19  figure out how much money you need to cover that

         20  need. Why you don't do that? I mean, an efficiency

         21  agency will put those numbers in place, calculate

         22  that, project the future in terms of how many beds

         23  you are going to need according to a projection.

         24                 You don't do that? You are telling me

         25  that your agency don't do that, they don't do
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          2  projections?

          3                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I

          4  appreciate your point and I can tell you that ACS,

          5  in keeping track of the foster homes, for instance,

          6  that we need, that development, those start within

          7  our preview. This is the scope of our agency and

          8  what we work with. We don't keep track of shelter

          9  information.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You are the

         11  people who put them in the shelter.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Council

         13  Member, this is because -- that we disagree on the

         14  basic premise, that because the concept of keeping

         15  families together is not the -- this agency

         16  considers the protection of the children in the

         17  prime, and you may be bringing up your preventative

         18  services, but your main emphasis and thrust has been

         19  for the children.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         21  I think that foster care when it is appropriate is a

         22  good thing.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I agree with

         24  you. Protecting children does not mean separating

         25  them.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          3  Protecting children doesn't mean separating them.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We agree

          5  totally.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          7  And it is about safety.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, then

          9  you have to listen to what the Council member is

         10  saying.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then if that is

         12  the case, if that is the case, then you will have

         13  the information that I ask you for because your

         14  intentions would be not to separate that child, then

         15  you will project for shelter beds or for places to

         16  have them together, if that is really your mandate.

         17  If that is really your philosophy. It has to be.

         18                 I mean, you just said here that your

         19  philosophy is to try to put a family together and to

         20  keep them together. Then you have to be worried

         21  about the shelter system, you have to project for

         22  it.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         24  And I think that is the whole purpose why

         25  Commissioner Scoppetta heads up the CCC, which is
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          2  made up of a number of other agencies --

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But in your

          4  testimony you say the CCC, which is the coordinating

          5  committee for children, brings together every City

          6  agency, thus the Commissioner of ACS and other

          7  senior managers. And we are assuming you are a

          8  senior manager since you are here to testify before

          9  us today, meet with commissioners and senior

         10  representatives of ten City agencies.

         11                 Now, I would hope that you people are

         12  meeting with those ten City agencies and I hope that

         13  underneath all of the agency's mission and services

         14  that you also care about keeping these families

         15  together.

         16                 So the question really is, we want

         17  you to talk to the Department of Homeless Services,

         18  we want you to talk to the Housing Department, we

         19  want you to talk to the Police Department, we want

         20  this to be better coordinated. And we do want to

         21  keep the families together, we don't want children

         22  taken out of homes because of domestic violence with

         23  a category of failure to protect, because we don't

         24  believe in many of these cases, although we don't

         25  know how many cases there are, that that is really
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          2  what the protection --

          3                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: And

          4  we agree with you totally on that point.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: "All right.

          6                 Now, the Commissioner of the Human

          7  Resources Agency, not your Commissioner, has stated

          8  that 50 percent of the women who go to look for

          9  shelter, faking domestic violence in order to get

         10  beds, rooms, apartments, beds, as if this is such a

         11  wonderful process that somebody is going to do that.

         12  But we also have heard from testimony that there are

         13  people who have been, the children have been removed

         14  from homes of the victims of domestic violence,

         15  because they have not taken their children and gone

         16  to shelter and we can tell you there are not enough

         17  beds or shelter space for families.

         18                 So, it again comes around in a

         19  circle. You can't leave the home, because you can't

         20  get into a shelter, we are going to take your

         21  children because you haven't gone into a shelter and

         22  then you have HRA saying you are making it up

         23  anyway, and then you have the Department of Homeless

         24  Services, which I understand has over 1,000 people

         25  in its shelters that are there because of domestic
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          2  violence, one-quarter of the homeless population is

          3  in the general population homeless shelters because

          4  we don't have enough domestic violence shelters.

          5                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: And

          6  that underscores the complexity of the problem we

          7  are all dealing with. And we did say that this is

          8  going to take all of the system working together to

          9  make it happen.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: It

         11  underscores chaos, and it also underscores that

         12  $800,000 in your agency is nowhere near the amount

         13  of money that has to be applied to this.

         14                 I don't think I have any other

         15  questions.

         16                 I am just looking.

         17                 Do you have a policy -- it also has

         18  been testified here today that a woman was told, if

         19  the father of her children does not go to a

         20  batterer's program, that her children are then -- if

         21  the father of the children does not comply by going

         22  through a batterer's program, then her children are

         23  going to be placed in foster care.

         24                 She was complying with the social

         25  worker by going to her support groups and things,
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          2  the father of the child was not going to the

          3  batterer's group as he had been told to do, and she

          4  was told that if he didn't go, the children were

          5  going to be taken away.

          6                 Are we still holding the victim

          7  responsible for the batterer's conduct?

          8                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: The

          9  victim is in no way accountable for the batterer's

         10  actions, and in no way would we condone that kind of

         11  action of our staff --

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So what

         13  should we do --

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         15  The point is to assess the safety for the child. In

         16  that situation, and we actually can't comment on

         17  that individual situation because we don't know the

         18  facts, but I think that we would have to continue to

         19  assess whether or not that child is in a safe

         20  situation.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, what

         22  should we do if there is a lawyer working on this

         23  case, and that is what the caseworker has told the

         24  client? Who does that lawyer talk to in ACS to

         25  straighten out that question.
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          2                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: There

          3  is a lawyer on every case assigned to ACS as well --

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: The lawyer

          5  has to talk to the lawyer?

          6                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: That

          7  would be one way to do that and --

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          9  I am sorry, are you looking for guidance of who they

         10  can call to get the policy? They can call our

         11  Domestic Violence Coordinator Susan Urban, if you

         12  would like to get that information.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: How many

         14  people work in the Domestic Violence Coordinator's

         15  Office?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         17  It is the interagency office. Like I said, it's

         18  included in all that we do with the community

         19  interagency and advocacy unit. So, those are 50

         20  people that make up the external affairs division.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But Susan

         22  Urban is what?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         24  Susan Urban is part of the interagency Unit.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, she is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            213

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  not the coordinator?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          4  She is the domestic violence coordinator.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Does she

          6  have a staff?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          8  She does not have a -- well, I shouldn't say that.

          9  She has about three or four people who work under

         10  her, but it is the whole external affairs unit that

         11  works together, to work as I said --

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Who listens

         13  to her? Who does she have responsible to her? Who

         14  does she supervise?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         16  She supervises the staff members --

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: The three

         18  workers.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

         20  -- In the domestic violence unit.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And suppose

         22  that she wants done in a field office, does the

         23  field office do what she tells them to do?

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: She

         25  talks to me. We have frequent meetings. She is an
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          2  integral part of the meetings that we are holding

          3  around the domestic violence initiatives in the

          4  field offices. Susan and I are in frequent contact

          5  about any issue that comes up that she needs to talk

          6  about in concerns to the field offices.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We have

          8  known Susan Urban for many years, and she has

          9  certainly been a champion for issues and concerns,

         10  but if she has the power to do anything is our

         11  question, and we want to know -- I mean, when she

         12  comes to you, how many times do you agree with her?

         13                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

         14  Actually on a lot of things that we are working

         15  together on.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And then who

         17  listens to you?

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I

         19  have about 3,000 staff members and --

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Who do you

         21  report to?

         22                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I

         23  report to the Deputy Commissioner.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Of what?

         25                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Of
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          2  child protection, the Division of Child Protection.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And who is

          4  that?

          5                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

          6  William Bell.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And he goes

          8  directly to Scoppetta?

          9                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE:

         10  Correct.

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And do you

         12  ever report directly to the Commissioner?

         13                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: On

         14  some issues, yes. When the Deputy Commissioner is

         15  not there, or when we are meeting together.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how does

         17  your budget get drawn up? Do you have a second

         18  budget?

         19                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: The

         20  Division has a part of the budget.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, Bell has

         22  the budget.

         23                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: I am

         24  sorry?

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And Bell has
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          2  the budget?

          3                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Yes.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Do you know

          5  what his budget is?

          6                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Not

          7  offhand, but it is large. As I said, we have 3,000

          8  staff members as part of the Division of Child

          9  Protection.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We have

         11  undertaken the responsibility for trying to arrange

         12  a meeting with you, Commissioner Scoppetta, and I

         13  assume Commissioner Bell, both the General Welfare

         14  Committee and the Women's Issues Committee, and with

         15  advocates from the field of domestic violence, and

         16  we would appreciate having that meeting as soon as

         17  possible.

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: We

         19  welcome it.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I will not

         21  only formally ask you, but we will send a joint

         22  letter to Commissioner Scoppetta requesting that.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER CHAHINE: Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WILLIAMS-ISOM:

          3  Thank you.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: This meeting

          5  is adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 2:05 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 22nd day of October 1999.
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          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N
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          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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